

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 748 / MAY 2007

FINANCIAL DOLLARIZATION THE ROLE OF BANKS AND INTEREST RATES

by Henrique S. Basso, Oscar Calvo-Gonzalez and Marius Jurgilas





NO 748 / MAY 2007

FINANCIAL DOLLARIZATION

THE ROLE OF BANKS AND INTEREST RATES ¹

by Henrique S. Basso², Oscar Calvo-Gonzalez 3 and Marius Jurgilas⁴









publications feature a motif taken from the €20 banknote.

I We thank an anonymous referee of the ECB Working Paper Series for many useful comments. Any views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the ECB. 2 School of Economics, Mathematics and Statistics, Birkbeck College, University of London, Malet Street, London, WCIE 7HX, United Kingdom; e-mail: hsbasso@econ.bbk.ac.uk 3 European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: o.calvo-gonzalez-alumni@lse.ac.uk4 Department of Economics, College of Liberal Arts, University of Connecticut,

341 Mansfield Road, Unit 1063, CT 06269-1063 USA;

This paper can be downloaded without charge from

http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=983483.

e-mail: marius.jurgilas@uconn.edu

© European Central Bank, 2007

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract						
Non-technical summary						
1	Introduction					
2	Model					
	2.1	Households	П			
	2.2	Deposits and loans aggregator	14			
	2.3	Banks	15			
	2.4	Equilibrium	17			
	2.5	Extensions	18			
		2.5.1 Endogenous foreign funds	18			
		2.5.2 Model with firms	19			
3	Model solution and main implications					
	3.1	Model extensions results	27			
		3.1.1 Endogenous foreign funds - results	27			
		3.1.2 Model with firms – results	29			
4	Data and methodology					
	4.1	Data	30			
	4.2	Descriptive statistics	35			
	4.3	Methodology	42			
5	Estimation results					
6	Conclusions					
Appendix A						
Appendix B						
References						
European Central Bank Working Paper Series						

Abstract

This paper develops a model to explain the determinants of financial dollarization. Expanding on the existing literature, our framework allows interest rate differentials to play a role in explaining financial dollarization. It also accounts for the increasing presence of foreign banks in the local financial sector. Using a newly compiled data set on transition economies we find that increasing access to foreign funds leads to higher credit dollarization, while it decreases deposit dollarization. Interest rate differentials matter for the dollarization of both loans and deposits. Overall, the empirical results lend support to the predictions of our theoretical model.

JEL classification: E44, G21

Keywords: Financial Dollarization; Foreign Banks; Interest Rate Differentials; Transition Economies

Non-technical summary

Why do households and firms in many countries borrow in foreign currencies? Why do they hold deposits in foreign currencies? This paper addresses these questions theoretically and empirically using a newly compiled data set on transition economies, a region which has not been traditionally the focus of the so-called "financial dollarization" literature. This lack of attention by the literature is all the more surprising given that financial dollarization is indeed prevalent, and in some cases growing, among the formerly planned economies. Financial dollarization increases the exposure of agents to exchange rate risk and can therefore become a potential source of macroeconomic and financial instability. Hence, understanding the determinants of financial dollarization is of great interest not only to researchers but also to policy-makers. Data availability and the lack of an overall theoretical framework have hitherto been the main constraints to improving our understanding of financial dollarization. In this paper we contribute to the literature both theoretically and empirically.

On the theory of financial dollarization, we expand on the existing literature by modeling explicitly how competition among banks, and the fact that banks often have an open facility to increase funds by accumulating foreign liabilities, may affect local currency and foreign currency interest rate differentials. The feature that banks can accumulate foreign liabilities is motivated by the widespread experience in the transition countries, where many banks are now subsidiaries of foreign banks and have ample access to foreign sources of funding from their parent banks. Introducing imperfect competition in the banking market and letting banks borrow abroad to fund domestic credit growth allows us to incorporate a departure from uncovered interest rate parity. We are therefore able to address the common argument that interest rate differentials between loans in foreign and local currency are a key factor behind credit dollarization. This is an argument which cannot be addressed within theoretical frameworks such as the so-called minimum variance portfolio approach, which assumes that the uncovered interest rate parity holds and explains financial dollarization as a portfolio choice problem in which agents choose the currency composition of their portfolio that minimizes the variance of returns (local currency assets have uncertain returns due to domestic inflation and foreign currency assets have uncertain due to real exchange rate risk). Recognizing the important insights from the minimum variance portfolio approach our modeling strategy is to nest the minimum variance portfolio approach and expand on it.

Our second contribution to the literature is empirical. We compile a new data set on financial dollarization in transition economies and use it to test the main predictions of our model. Our data set shows that dollarization of deposits is not generally matched by the dollarization of credit - a result which is difficult to square with some of the existing theories of financial dollarization but is consistent with our framework. In particular, it fits with the argument that foreign borrowing by banks is being used to fund domestic credit growth. As banks have to keep net open positions under a limit, they go on to lend in foreign currency to domestic borrowers and we observe a rise in credit dollarization without deposit dollarization being necessarily affected. Our data set is also particularly rich in terms of the availability of data split on credit and deposit dollarization split for households and firms. The main predictions of the model are confirmed in our empirical analysis as follows:

First, access to foreign funds increases credit dollarization but it decreases the dollarization of deposits. The underlying intuition is the access of banks to foreign borrowing, often from their parent banks, as already mentioned. This implies that the accumulation of foreign liabilities seen in transition countries results in currency mismatches in the agents' portfolios in these countries.

Second, interest rate differentials matter. As expected in our model, a wider interest rate differential on loans in domestic currency compared to loans in foreign currency increases loan dollarization. A wider interest rate differential on deposits (again local currency interest rate minus foreign currency interest rate) has a negative effect on the extent of deposit dollarization.

Third, in line with the literature on the minimum variance portfolio approach, the trade off between inflation and real exchange rate variability is found to be a significant factor explaining financial dollarization.

Fourth, a higher degree of openness of an economy contributes to loan dollarization - but it appears to do so only in the case of firms and not households. In general the explanatory power of our model is lower for household dollarization, calling for more research efforts particularly in that area.

Overall, our analysis provides both a theoretical motivation as well as empirical validation that the access of banks to foreign funds and interest rate differentials between local and foreign currency instruments affect the extent of financial dollarization in transition economies.

1 Introduction

Why do households and firms in many countries borrow in foreign currencies? Why do they hold deposits in foreign currencies? This paper addresses these questions theoretically and empirically using a newly compiled data set on transition economies, a region which has not been traditionally the focus of the so-called "financial dollarization" (FD) literature. As noted in a recent survey, this lack of attention by the literature is all the more surprising given that FD is indeed prevalent, and in some cases growing, among the formerly planned economies (Levy-Yeyati (2006)). Moreover, high exchange rate exposure has been recently highlighted as a potential source of macroeconomic and financial instability in a number of central and southeast European economies (Winkler and Beck (2006), Standard and Poor's - RatingsDirect (2006)).

Until recently, the literature on FD (defined as the holding by residents of a share of their assets and/or liabilities denominated in foreign currency) has lacked both an overall encompassing framework as well as a broad empirical basis. Lack of data has led to the literature often focusing on either deposit or credit dollarization but typically not both (e.g. Nicolo, Honohan, and Ize (2005)). Having a broader view is important because theoretical explanations can often help to explain the dollarization of deposits but not credit, or the other way around. If, for example, agents perceived the currency to be overvalued, assumption that the literature usually does, then the safe heaven portfolio approach can only explain why households hold deposits in foreign currency but not why they are borrowing in foreign currency.

In a recent survey of the literature, Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2005) divide the main contributions to the theoretical analysis of FD into three main paradigms: (a) the price risk-portfolio choice; (b) credit risk; and, (c) financial environment. The portfolio choice approach, as its name suggests, explains FD as the result of a portfolio choice by which agents minimize the variance of the portfolio returns. Returns of local currency assets are uncertain due to domestic inflation while returns of foreign currency assets are uncertain due to real exchange rate risk. This approach focuses on variances since any interest rate differentials are assumed to be cancelled out by expected exchange rate movements, thus the uncovered interest rate parity (UIP) holds. The credit risk paradigm explains FD as the result of optimal decisions by risk neutral agents in the presence of default risk (enhanced by moral hazard/asymmetric information) while the financial environment paradigm explains FD as the result of domestic market and legal imperfections.

It is, however, difficult to find unequivocal empirical support for any of the above paradigms as the three explanations overlap to some extent (a significant variable in explaining FD could be linked to two or even all theories). This calls for a unified analytical framework. Ize (2005) provides one such approach based on an investor/household sector that decides on its deposits based on the minimum variance portfolio choice paradigm, while risk neutral firms choose the currency composition of their borrowing in the presence of default risk. The results are obtained based on the assumption that there might exist an overvaluation overhang due to the fact that governments do not adjust the exchange rate within a specific interval.

Two key aspects of Ize (2005) should be highlighted. Firstly, contrary to most other contributions, which look at FD only from the depositors side,¹ Ize's model explains both deposit and credit dollarization. Depositors (households) choose foreign currency denominated assets motivated by the "safe heaven" portfolio (dollar denominated assets are one sided bets) while borrowers (firms) choose foreign currency denominated loans to maximize their objective function in the presence of default risk. Secondly, despite this separation of the motives of investors and firms, the model requires the equilibrium to be defined as a point where depositors and borrowers choose the same currency composition. This implies that banks are mere intermediaries without any influence in the final outcome and interest rates are fully determined by the interaction between investors and firms.

However, the assumption that credit and deposit dollarization are always matched is not broadly supported by our data. In transition economies, on which we focus our empirical analysis, the shares of foreign currency loans and foreign currency deposits are often negatively correlated (see Table 5 below). Credit dollarization has increased in these economies as banks in the region, often foreign-owned, have been able to borrow abroad to fund a substantial growth of domestic credit which - to keep the banks' exposures matched - is granted in foreign currencies (see also Arcalean and Calvo-Gonzalez (2006)). Subsidiaries of foreign owned banks are often seen as driving the fast credit growth in their attempt to capture market shares

¹A relevant exception is Barajas and Morales (2003) who analysed, empirically, Dollarization of Liabilities (DL) in Latin America finding that Central Bank Foreign Exchange Market interventions and interest rate differential (interpreted as representing borrowers market power) are also important factors driving DL.

in yet undeveloped credit markets that are not only highly profitable but are also expected to grow substantially in the medium term.² Therefore, in explaining FD it is important to model explicitly two key features: (i) the different extent to which dollarization affects credit and deposits; (ii) the role that competition among banks is playing in driving foreign currency lending in these countries.

The latter has been addressed empirically in transition economies only by Luca and Petrova (2003), who concluded that banks, in attempting to match currency composition of their assets and liabilities, drive FD in these economies. To our knowledge only Catao and Terrones (2000) provide a theoretical model of FD focused on the banking side. However, the loans and deposits decisions are not explicitly modeled, ad hoc loan demand functions are assumed while deposits are in infinite supply given a deposit rate. Moreover, foreign and local currency loans are not considered as substitutes. In their model FD is determined not only by the interest rate set by the banks but mostly by the assumption that investors have different collateral capabilities. Therefore, despite its novelty, the model does not allow one to isolate the impact of market and legal imperfections and banking activity on FD. Finally, their framework does not provide simple testable implications, limiting its use in empirical work.

As in Ize (2005) we model depositors and borrowers separately. In our basic framework, we do so by assuming that households have different discount factors, one being a borrower and one a lender. This contrasts to Ize's approach in which he assumes that firms are borrowers and households are lenders. However, in one extension to our model we also include firms that borrow funds to finance investment opportunities.

Our main contribution to the literature is to model explicitly how competition among banks, and the fact that banks have an open facility to increase funds by accumulating foreign liabilities, may affect local currency and foreign currency interest rate differentials. Crucially, we introduce imperfect competition in the banking market and allow foreign liabilities to be used in

²For evidence of the importance of targets for future market shares for foreign-owned banks active in the region such as ING and Raiffeisen see de Haas and Naaborg (2005). Recently, the high price at which a 62 percent stake in the Romanian bank BCR was sold (EUR 3.75 billion - the largest amount ever paid for a central and eastern European bank) was interpreted by market commentators as driven by the fact that BCR represented the last big state-owned bank in the region giving at once a large market share for the buyer (The Banker (2006)).

Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007

the loan market. This also allows us to incorporate a departure from uncovered interest rate parity. We would therefore be able to address the common argument that interest rate differentials between loans in foreign and local currency are a key factor behind credit dollarization - an argument which by construction cannot be addressed within the minimum variance portfolio approach alone.

The main predictions of the model, which are indeed confirmed in our empirical results, are as follows. First, access to foreign funds increases credit dollarization but it decreases dollarization of deposits. Hence the increasing foreign presence in the banking sector coupled with accumulation of banking foreign liabilities experienced in transition economies results in currency mismatches in the agents' portfolios in these countries. Second, interest rate differentials matters. A wider interest rate differencial on loans positively affects loan dollarization. Interest rate differential on deposits has a negative effect on deposit dollarization. Third, our results confirm the relevance of the minimum variance portfolio theory of dollarization. Fourth, higher degree of openness leads to higher corporate loan dollarization.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents a model of the currency choice while section 3 provides solutions and model implications. An overview of the data and methodology is presented in section 4, section 5 presents the estimation results and section 6 concludes. Auxiliary regression results and an alternative model specification are presented in the appendix.

2 Model

Assume the economy is populated by an infinite number of banks $i \in [0, 1]$, two representative households and a deposits and loans Dixit-Stiglitz CES "aggregator". We assume that all economic agents live for two periods. As an extension to our basic framework (see section 2.5) we also include firms in the model.

2.1 Households

Each representative household has a specific discount factor, household H has β_H and household L has $\beta_L < \beta_H$. Both households have identical endowments in both periods $(Y)^3$, hence the relationship between the interest rate charged by banks and their implicit interest rate $(1/\beta_j)$ determines whether the household j = H, L decides to take a loan or make a deposit.

In equilibrium (formally stated below) the economies' gross interest rates will be between $1/\beta_H$ and $1/\beta_L$. Note that due to imperfect competition in the banking market there will be two rates, one for deposits and another for loans, for each currency. We will assume a set of parameter values for which all four equilibrium rates will be inside that interval. Hence the household with low discount factor will find it better to borrow and consume more today and the other will find it better to save and consume more tomorrow. That way a household that makes deposits (loans) does not take loans (deposits).

Households maximize utility given a stream of income choosing the amount of deposits and loans in local and foreign currency (implicitly determining consumption in each period). Both local and foreign currency denominated assets are risky. While the first might fluctuate due to inflation, the second will fluctuate due to changes in the real exchange rate.

In order to incorporate competition among banks having only two representative households we assume that households (indirectly through the "aggregator") choose CES deposits and loans indexes, which are a composite of all banks deposits and loans given a constant elasticity of substitution⁴. That way the banking sector will be characterized by monopolistic competition. Although we do not model why banks exist and where they derive their market power from, banks may be providing liquidity and hence reducing the cost of credit (Freixas, Parigi, and Rochet 2000). The assumption that banks have market power is supported by empirical evidence (Simons and Stavins 1998).

Each household is split into two units: (i) the investor, responsible for deciding demand for loans and deposits⁵ or the set (D, L), where D = total deposits, L = total loans and (ii) the fund manager, responsible for deciding

³Endowments, as consumption, total deposits and loans, are in real terms. This does not affect the results of the model. Households may actually have unlimited access to an exchange rate spot market in each period.

⁴We assume the same elasticity of substitution for loans and deposits. Allowing for different elasticity of substitution would not change the results of the model.

⁵Throughout the paper we state that households demand loans and deposits, consid-

the portfolio compositions (α_d, α_l) , where α_d = portion of deposits in foreign currency (deposit dollarization) and α_l = portion of loans in foreign currency (loan dollarization). This specification integrates the Minimum Variance Portfolio framework developed by Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003). An alternative specification where households make their decisions at once, rather than first about the demand for loans and deposits and then about their currency composition, is presented in Appendix A. As it is shown there the results are very similar.

The investor part of the household solves a certainty equivalent problem given the expected returns, defined as $E[\bar{R}_d] = (1 - \alpha_d)R_d + \alpha_d R_d^*$ for deposits and $E[\bar{R}_l] = (1 - \alpha_l)R_l + \alpha_l R_l^*$ for loans. Note that the certainty equivalence assumption allows us to solve this problem independently of the portfolio composition decision. Hence the variance of returns does not affect the total deposit or loan decisions⁶. The investor's j = H, L problem is

$$\max_{\{D,L\}} \frac{(Y-D+L)^{1-1/\sigma}}{1-1/\sigma} + \beta_j \frac{(Y+E[\bar{R}_d]D-E[\bar{R}_l]L)^{1-1/\sigma}}{1-1/\sigma}$$

The fund manager allocates the deposits (D) and loans (L) determined by the investor into foreign currency denominated deposits and loans (d^*, l^*) and local currency denominated deposits and loans (d, l) to maximize expected return and minimize the variance of the resulting portfolio, where

$$D = d + d^*, \quad d = (1 - \alpha_d)D \quad \text{and} \quad d^* = \alpha_d D$$
$$L = l + l^*, \quad l = (1 - \alpha_l)L \quad \text{and} \quad l^* = \alpha_l L$$

Hence for deposits

$$\max_{\alpha_d} E[\bar{R_d}] - q \frac{VAR[\bar{R_d}]}{2} \tag{1}$$

where

$$\bar{R}_d = (1 - \alpha_d)\hat{R}_d + \alpha_d\hat{R}_d^*$$
$$\hat{R}_d = R_d - \mu_\pi$$
$$\hat{R}_d^* = R_d^* + \mu_S$$

ering that both are products that banks sell to households. However, deposit "demand" is upward sloping as it represents a supply of funds.

⁶In the alternative specification shown in Appendix A these two decisions are made together and therefore the total demand decisions are affected negatively by the variance.

and μ_{π} and μ_{S} are the risk component due to inflation and real exchange rate respectively by which the rate indexes need to be adjusted to get the actual returns (\hat{R}_d, \hat{R}_d^*) in period 2. These have zero mean, variances given by $S_{\pi,\pi}$, $S_{S,S}$ and covariance by $S_{\pi,S}$. Finally, q indicates the weight of the variance term in the fund manager's objective function.

The portfolio choice is therefore given by

$$\alpha_d = \frac{R_d^* - R_d}{q(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})} + \frac{S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{\pi,S}}{(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})}$$
$$= \frac{R_d^* - R_d}{q(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})} + \lambda_{MVP}$$
(2)

where, as in Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003), λ_{MVP} affects dollarization positively and is defined as

$$\lambda_{MVP} = \frac{S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{\pi,S}}{(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})}$$

The loans decision problem is similar to (1), though now fund managers minimize the payment and the variance.

$$\max_{\alpha_l} -E[\bar{R}_l] - q \frac{VAR[R_l]}{2} \tag{3}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \bar{R}_l &= (1 - \alpha_l)\hat{R}_l + \alpha_l\hat{R}_l^* \\ \hat{R}_l &= R_l - \mu_\pi \\ \hat{R}_l^* &= R_l^* + \mu_S \end{aligned}$$

The loans portfolio choice is given by

$$\alpha_{l} = \frac{R_{l} - R_{l}^{*}}{q(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})} + \frac{S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{\pi,S}}{(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})}$$
$$= \frac{R_{l} - R_{l}^{*}}{q(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})} + \lambda_{MVP}$$
(4)

The equations determining the portfolio choice are the same as in Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003). However, in their case $\alpha_d = \alpha_l = \lambda_{MVP}$ as they assume UIP holds. In our case banks choose interest rates such that households find it optimal to increase α_l if loan differential $(R_l - R_l^*)$ increases and to decrease α_d if deposit differential $(R_d - R_d^*)$ increases.

2.2 Deposits and Loans Aggregator

The aggregator sells deposit and loan indexes to households and buys individual banks' deposits and loans from each bank in order to minimize the cost for loans⁷ and maximize the gains for deposits⁸. We assume perfect competition so the aggregator makes no profits. The introduction of a deposits and loans aggregator facilitates the exposition of the model without changing its results. The aggregator solves the following problems.

Local Currency Deposits

$$\min_{\{d_i\}} \left[\int_0^1 \frac{1}{rd_i} d_i \ di \right]$$

subject to total deposits in local currency, which is a CES index of all deposits in each bank $i \in [0, 1]$

$$d = \left[\int_0^1 (d_i)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} di\right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}$$

That implies the following demand for local currency deposits from bank i (d_i) :

$$d_i = \left[\frac{R_d}{rd_i}\right]^{-\theta} d\tag{5}$$

where rd_i is the deposit rate given by bank *i* and the local currency deposit rate index R_d is defined as

$$\frac{1}{R_d} = \left[\int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{rd_i} \right)^{1-\theta} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}.$$

Note that profits are indeed zero since $\int_0^1 \frac{1}{rd_i} d_i di = \frac{1}{R_d} d$.

Local Currency Loans

$$\min_{\{l_i\}} \left[\int_0^1 r l_i l_i di \right]$$

⁷The household promises to pay an interest rate for the loans (l), thus the aggregator wants to pay as little as possible for the individual loans made in each bank *i*.

⁸The aggregator promises to pay a deposit rate to the household, thus he/she will want to maximize the deposit rate on each individual deposit or minimize the present value of each deposit.

subject to total loans in local currency which is a CES index of all loans done in each bank $i \in [0,1]$

$$l = \left[\int_0^1 (l_i)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}} di\right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}$$

That implies the following demand for local currency loans from bank $i(l_i)$:

$$l_i = \left[\frac{rl_i}{R_l}\right]^{-\theta} l \tag{6}$$

where rl_i is the loan rate set by bank *i* and the local currency loan rate index R_l is defined as

$$R_l = \left[\int_0^1 \left(rl_i\right)^{1-\theta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$

Note that, again, profits are zero since $\int_0^1 r l_i l_i di = R_l l$.

Similarly for foreign currency loans and deposits:

$$d_{i}^{*} = \left[\frac{R_{d}^{*}}{rd_{i}^{*}}\right]^{-\theta} d^{*}$$
(7)
where $\frac{1}{R_{d}^{*}} = \left[\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{rd_{i}^{*}}\right)^{1-\theta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$
 $l_{i}^{*} = \left[\frac{rl_{i}^{*}}{R_{l}^{*}}\right]^{-\theta} l^{*}$
(8)
where $R_{l}^{*} = \left[\int_{0}^{1} (rl_{i}^{*})^{1-\theta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$

where rd_i^* and rl_i^* are bank *i*'s foreign currency deposit and loan rates and d_i^* and l_i^* are the demand for bank *i*'s foreign currency deposits and loans. R_d^* and R_l^* are the respective interest rate indexes.

2.3 Banks

Each bank *i* chooses deposit and loan interest rates for foreign and local currency $(rd_i^*, rl_i^*, rd_i, rl_i)$ to maximize its expected second period profits and its loan market shares.

Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007 Banks start with an amount of funds (F), comprised of the banks' capital and its foreign liabilities, of which some are denominated in foreign currency and some in local currency. Banks can use F to offset loans, hence we do not force the market of loans and deposits to match but allow banks to use these funds to close the gap. The parameter ϕ indicates the portion of funds that are denominated in foreign currency.

As foreign banks have greater facility to acquire funds in foreign currency from their parent banks, greater foreign bank penetration can be expected to result in a higher share of funds denominated in foreign currency. Therefore foreign bank penetration is implicitly modelled here as ϕ . This link is supported by our data (see section 4).

Banks are assumed to have balanced currency positions thus loans must be equal to funds plus deposits for each currency.⁹ Given prudential regulations limiting net open foreign exchange positions this assumption is not unreasonable.

Bank *i* solves the following problem¹⁰:

$$\max_{\{rl_i, rl_i^*, rd_i, rd_i^*\}} E\left[(rl_i - 1) l_i + (rl_i^* - 1) l_i^* - (rd_i - 1) d_i - (rd_i^* - 1) d_i^* + \gamma \left(\frac{l_i}{l} + \frac{l_i^*}{l^*} \right) \right]$$
(9)

subject to demand functions (5)-(8) and

$$l_i = d_i + (1 - \phi)F$$
 (10)

$$l_i^* = d_i^* + \phi F \tag{11}$$

where γ reflects how much the bank cares about loan shares. We include loan market shares in the banks' objective function for two main reasons. Firstly, as shown by de Haas and Naaborg (2005), foreign banks do set targets for future market share for their subsidiaries in transition economies. Secondly, given that we solve a two period model, loan market shares will

⁹If banks are not assumed to hold balanced currency positions but some limit is imposed on currency exposures, the main qualitative results of the model remain unchanged as long as this limit eventually binds given the sizes of F and ϕ .

¹⁰The second period realization of individual bank rates have the same risk components defined in the household problem, μ_{π} and μ_{S} (e.g. $rl_{i} = E[rl_{i}] - \mu_{\pi}$). As banks are risk neutral and these have zero mean, they do not affect bank *i*'s problem.

also serve as a proxy for future profits. Alternatively one could solve an infinite period model, assuming banks maximize the future stream of profits. However, that would increase the complexity of the problem and since the banking sector is growing considerably in these economies there is a premium for first entrants that is not necessarily present in infinite period profit functions. In any case, the main qualitative results of our model do not change when loan market shares are dropped from the banks' objective function.

The first order condition of the bank problem, incorporating the equilibrium conditions (individual bank rates are equal to rate indexes, explained below) are: (10), (11) and

$$\gamma \theta - L\alpha_l (R_d(1+\theta) + R_l(1-\theta)) = 0$$

$$\gamma \theta - L(1-\alpha_l) (R_d^*(1+\theta) + R_l^*(1-\theta)) = 0$$

2.4 Equilibrium

The equilibrium is defined as a set of individual banks' interest rates $\{rd_i, rd_i^*, rl_i, rl_i^*\}_{i=0}^1$, interest rate indexes $\{R_d, R_d^*, R_l, R_l^*\}$ and loan and deposit demands $\{d, d^*, l, l^*\}$ such that given interest rates, aggregate demand solves the households' problem, given aggregate demand and interest rate indexes, the set $\{rd_i, rd_i^*, rl_i, rl_i^*\}$ maximises bank *i* objective function for all $i \in [0, 1]$ and the following conditions hold¹¹.

$$\frac{1}{R_d} = \left[\int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{rd_i} \right)^{1-\theta} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$
$$R_l = \left[\int_0^1 (rl_i)^{1-\theta} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$
$$\frac{1}{R_d^*} = \left[\int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{rd_i^*} \right)^{1-\theta} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$
$$R_l^* = \left[\int_0^1 (rl_i^*)^{1-\theta} di \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$

¹¹One can easily show that ensuring these, together with the individual bank demand equations used as constraints to bank *i*'s problem guarantees that the equations for d, d^*, l, l^* used in the aggregator problem hold.

As all banks are equal these conditions in fact imply that bank rates and rate indexes are equal.

2.5 Extensions

2.5.1 Endogenous Foreign Funds

An extension to our basic model is to allow banks to choose the required amount of foreign denominated funds given a pre-determined interest rate. This is important since it allows us to verify if exogeneity of funds is driving the results.

In addition this model extension is relevant because most foreign banks have that facility open from their parent banks. Profits in transition economies have generally been greater than in mature markets making this flow of funds a profitable strategy for the parent bank.

Hence bank *i* now starts with an amount of funds in local currency F_{LC} but can choose funds in foreign currency F_{FC} given an interest rate $(EIB)^{12}$. The problem is

$$\max_{\{rl_i, rl_i^*, rd_i, rd_i^*, F_{FC}\}} \quad E\left[(rl_i - 1) l_i + (rl_i^* - 1) l_i^* - (rd_i - 1) d_i - (rd_i^* - 1) d_i^* - (EIB - 1) F_{FC} + \gamma \left(\frac{l_i}{l} + \frac{l_i^*}{l^*} \right) \right]$$

subject to demand equations (5)-(8) and

$$l_i = d_i + F_{LC}$$
$$l_i^* = d_i^* + F_{FC}$$

As we will show in the next section, allowing for endogeneity of foreign funds does not alter our main results.

¹²We implicitly assume that all external funds are denominated in foreign currency, following the "original sin" literature.

2.5.2 Model with Firms

The basic model in this paper included only risk averse households who seek to maximize the return and minimizing the variance of the loan/deposit portfolio. However, corporate loan dollarization is also of interest. In fact, as our data set shows, it is sizeable and generally higher than household loan dollarization. Therefore, we now extend the model to include firms which, as is common in the literature, we will assume to be risk neutral.

We assume that a representative firm has a project (investment opportunity) available, whereby investing V at period 1 the firm will get MV at period 2, where M is the real return on the project and is stochastic. We further assume that the firm has no funds in period 1 and hence is forced to borrow the entire initial investment from banks. The firm maximizes expected profits (Q) selecting the currency composition of the total amount borrowed from banks given the interest rates on each loan type. Profits are risky due to variations in M, inflation (μ_{π}) and real exchange rate (μ_S). We assume these three stochastic processes are jointly normally distributed with mean [\overline{M} , 0, 0]' and variance Σ , where

$$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} S_{M,M} & S_{M,\pi} & S_{M,S} \\ S_{\pi,M} & S_{\pi,\pi} & S_{\pi,S} \\ S_{S,M} & S_{S,\pi} & S_{S,S} \end{pmatrix}.$$

In order to make the portfolio currency selection non-trivial we assume that the firm may default if profits at period 2 are negative 13 .

Formally, the firm problem is

$$\max_{\{\alpha_v\}} E[Q] = \max_{\{\alpha_v\}} E\left[\max\left\{MV - \bar{R}_v V, 0\right\}\right]$$

where
$$\bar{R}_v = (1 - \alpha_v)\hat{R}_v + \alpha_v \hat{R}_v^*$$
$$\hat{R}_v = R_v - \mu_\pi$$
$$\hat{R}_v^* = R_v^* + \mu_S$$
$$V = v + v^*$$
$$v = (1 - \alpha_v)V$$
$$v^* = \alpha_v V$$

¹³Under no default firms would select the currency for which the loan interest rate is the lowest so the result would be total dollarization, no dollarization or indeterminacy (if rates are equal).

Following the same modelling simplification as in the basic model we also introduce a corporate loan aggregator or a syndicated loan manager. The syndicated loan manager receives loan demands v and v^* from the firm and gets funding from each bank i to minimize the total loan costs $\left(\int_0^1 rv_iv_idi\right)$ and $\int_0^1 rv_i^*v_i^*di$, such that $v = \left[\int_0^1 v_i^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}}di\right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}$ and $v^* = \left[\int_0^1 (v_i^*)^{\frac{\theta-1}{\theta}}di\right]^{\frac{\theta}{\theta-1}}$. That way

$$v_i = \left[\frac{rv_i}{R_v}\right]^{-\theta} v \tag{12}$$

$$v_i^* = \left[\frac{rv_i^*}{R_v^*}\right]^{-\theta} v^* \tag{13}$$

where
$$R_v = \left[\int_0^1 (rv_i)^{1-\theta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$$
 and $R_v^* = \left[\int_0^1 (rv_i^*)^{1-\theta} di\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$.

If the firm defaults the loan manager pays a cost of verification K and gets $M(v+v^*)$ from the firm's project. In order to simplify bank *i*'s problem we assume that in case of a default the loan manager will charge K_i and K_i^* such that each bank will get back $Mv_i - K_i = v_i$ and $Mv_i^* - K_i^* = v_i^*$ or zero net returns. This insurance mechanism is provided by a government agency that effectively does a transfer for the loan manager to cover the gain or loss given the realizations of M such that the net profit of the loan aggregator is zero. The insurance mechanism, or the transfer, is provided as long as the loan manager's expected return without the transfer is not smaller than the return he/she would get using the funds to make loans to the households (assumed to be risk free), hence

$$E[\min\{\bar{R}_v V, MV\} - \mathsf{Def}K] \ge V\bar{R}_l. \tag{14}$$

Where **Def** is a dummy variable that takes the value 1 in case of default and zero otherwise. Note that this constraint will actually bind in equilibrium and is effectively a participation constraint for the loan manager to perform the loan.

Given the participation constraint, the firm problem can be modified as follows (see Jeanne (2003) for more details)

$$\max_{\{\alpha_v\}} E[Q] = \max_{\{\alpha_v\}} \left[E\left[\max\left\{ MV - \bar{R_v}V, 0\right\} \right] + E[\min\{\bar{R_v}V, MV\} - \mathsf{Def}K] - V\bar{R_l} \right] \\ \max_{\{\alpha_v\}} E[Q] = \max_{\{\alpha_v\}} \left[E[MV] - E[\mathsf{Def}]K - V\bar{R_l} \right]$$

That implies that in order to maximize profits (Q) the firm actually seeks to minimize $E[\mathsf{Def}]$ or the probability of default. In the model presented by Jeanne (2003) that would imply minimizing the variance since there, UIP holds. In our case, as expected interest rate from local and foreign currency loans might not be the same, the problem of the firm becomes

$$\min_{\{\alpha_v\}} \quad \operatorname{Prob}[\operatorname{Default}] = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \operatorname{Prob}[Q] dQ$$

where $Q = (M - (1 - \alpha_v) \hat{R_v} - \alpha_v \hat{R_v}) V$
 $= (M + (1 - \alpha_v) \mu_\pi - \alpha_v \mu_S - [(1 - \alpha_v) R_v + \alpha_v R_v^*]) V.$

Given our assumption of joint normality of M, μ_{π} and μ_{S} , this problem, after some manipulation, becomes

$$\min_{\{\alpha_v\}} \quad \Phi\left(\frac{(1-\alpha_v)R_v + \alpha_v R_v^* - \bar{M}}{\sigma_p}, 0, 1\right)$$

Where Φ is the standard normal cumulative density function and $\sigma_P^2 =$ $S_{M,M} + (1 - \alpha_v)^2 S_{\pi,\pi} + \alpha_v^2 S_{S,S} - 2(1 - \alpha_v) \alpha_v S_{\pi,S} - 2\alpha_v S_{M,S} + 2(1 - \alpha_v) S_{M,\pi}.$ The first order condition of this minimization is

$$\frac{R_v^* - R_v}{(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})} = \left[\frac{(1 - \alpha_v)R_v + \alpha_v R_v^* - \bar{M}}{\sigma_p}\right] \left(\alpha_v - \lambda_{MVP} - \lambda_{COV}\right)$$
(15)

Where $\lambda_{COV} = \frac{S_{M,\pi} + S_{M,S}}{(S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S})}$. First note that if $R_v = R_v^*$ then the firm will only minimize the variance $(\min_{\alpha_v} \sigma_p^2)$, hence $\alpha_v = \lambda_{MVP} + \lambda_{COV}$. That way firm loan dollarization is determined by the original trade-off between inflation and the real exchange rate (summarized by λ_{MVP}) plus an additional term reflecting the optimal hedging strategy of firms as regards to the real return on their investments.

On the one hand, if the real return is positively correlated with the real exchange rate then choosing foreign currency denominated loans protects the firm against default; higher interest payment will occur when investment returns are high. Hence high $S_{M,S}$ leads to more dollarization.

On the other hand, if inflation and real investment returns are negatively correlated, then when inflation is low and interest rate payments are high the investment return will also be high, protecting the firm against default. Thus, lower $S_{M,\pi}$ leads to less dollarization.

If $R_v^* > R_v$ (assuming $\overline{M} - (1 - \alpha_v)R_v - \alpha_v > 0$ or the expected return on investment is positive) then $\alpha_v < \lambda_{MVP} + \lambda_{COV}$; corporate loan dollarization decreases. The firm shifts the portfolio allocation towards the cheaper loan type, which in this case is the one denominated in local currency. The opposite occurs when $R_v^* < R_v$. Therefore, the firm portfolio choice is very similar to that of the households but for the new covariance term.

Finally, the introduction of firms changes the bank problem as follows. Each bank *i* uses total funds (deposits + F) to make loans for the representative household and the firm. So the bank's problem becomes¹⁴

$$\max_{\{rl_i, rl_i^*, rd_i, rd_i^*, rv_i, rv_i^*\}} E\left[(rl_i - 1) l_i + (rl_i^* - 1)l_i^* - (rd_i - 1) d_i - (rd_i^* - 1)d_i^* + E[\min\{(rv_i - 1)v_i, (M - 1)v_i\} - \mathsf{Def}K_i] + E[\min\{rv_i^* - 1)v_i^*, (M - 1)v_i^*\} - \mathsf{Def}K_i^*] \right]$$

subject to demand functions (5)-(8), (12) and (13), and

$$l_i + v_i = d_i + (1 - \phi)F \qquad (16)$$

$$l_i^* + v_i^* = d_i^* + \phi F$$
 (17)

$$E[\min\{(rv_i - 1)v_i, (M - 1)v_i\} - \mathsf{Def}K_i] = E[(rl_i - 1)v_i]$$
(18)

$$E[\min\{(rv_i^* - 1)v_i^*, (M - 1)v_i^*\} - \mathsf{Def}K_i^*] = E[(rl_i^* - 1)v_i^*]$$
(19)

Where the last two equations ((18) and (19)) are the participation constraints for each bank to take part in the firm's syndicated loan, which can also be written as

E[Net return | no default] + E[Net return | default] = E[Net return on household loan].

Firstly note that since each bank i contributes with a small share of the firm's loan they take the probability of default as given. Secondly, given our assumption that K_i and K_i^* are set such that, in case of default, net return for bank i is zero, the second term on the left hand side is zero. Hence, the participation constraints can be written as

$$(1-\varphi)(rv_i-1) = (rl_i-1)$$
 and $(1-\varphi)(rv_i^*-1) = (rl_i^*-1)$

¹⁴We set $\gamma = 0$.

Where $\varphi = \Phi\left(\frac{(1-\alpha_v)R_v + \alpha_v R_v^* - \bar{M}}{\sigma_p}, 0, 1\right) = \text{probability of default.}$

The insurance mechanism introduced in the syndicated loan manager problem clearly simplifies the bank's problem and will impact on the equilibrium size of the firm's credit spread. However, since the probability of default is given for each bank i, this assumption will not change the qualitative results of our model.

The first order conditions of the bank problem, simplified using the market clearing condition (bank rates are equal to rate indexes), are: (16) - (19) and

$$-L\alpha_l R_d(1+\theta) + R_l \left[-V\alpha_v + L\alpha_l(\theta-1) + \frac{V\alpha_v \theta(R_l - R_d \frac{1-\theta}{\theta})}{R_v(1-\varphi)} \right] = 0$$

$$-L(1-\alpha_l) R_d^*(1+\theta) + R_l^* \left[-V(1-\alpha_v) + L(1-\alpha_l)(\theta-1) + \frac{V(1-\alpha_v)\theta(R_l^* - R_d^* \frac{1-\theta}{\theta})}{R_v^*(1-\varphi)} \right] = 0$$

3 Model Solution and Main Implications

In order to solve the model we assume the parameter values¹⁵ shown in Table 1. Discount factors are chosen to allow for a wider range of specifications for other parameters of the model for which the equilibrium rates are still within the range $[1/\beta_H, 1/\beta_L]$. Income (Y) and σ are set to make sure that loan and deposit demands are sensitive enough to interest rate changes. The model is solved for different values of F (smaller than 0.06), $\theta = 35$ and $\gamma = 0.00005$, which, given the other parameters, ensure the funds are never greater than 70% of total of deposits and banking spreads are around 7% (average in our sample). Finally, we assume that $\lambda_{MVP} = 0.5^{16}$.

Table 1: Parameter Values										
β_H	β_L	Y	σ	θ	γ	λ_{MVP}				
0.99	0.65	10	0.175	35	0.00005	0.5				

Given that there has been a strong increase in foreign bank ownership ratios (both in number of banks and percentage of assets) coupled with raises

¹⁵We have attempted to select plausible parameter values to match the observed data.

Nonetheless we are primarily concerned with the qualitative implications of the model. ¹⁶Where $S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S} = 0.1$ and $S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{\pi,S} = 0.05$.

in foreign liabilities in transition economies in the last ten years the main question to be analysed with the model is how financial dollarization is impacted by increases in the ratio of foreign denominated funds (ϕ) together with an overall increase in total funds F.

Figure 1 shows the result of changing the amount of funds and the proportion of funds in foreign currency for loans and deposits dollarization. When both variables are increasing (top right corner of Figure 1(a) and 1(b)) the foreign currency loans share (α_l) increases and the foreign currency deposits share actually decreases. Figures 1(c),1(e), and 1(d), 1(f) show the two dimensional slices from the Figures 1(a) and 1(b), respectively, holding Fconstant at high (0.06) and low (0.015) levels. If initial funds are high, banks have more leverage resulting in more sensitivity on foreign currency shares given a change in ϕ .

The fact that deposit dollarization is negatively affected by an increase in ϕ might seem surprising at first. However, this can be explained by the way banks are managing total funds (deposits plus F). If funds (F) are more concentrated in foreign currency (ϕ increases) banks find it optimal to offer better rates on foreign loans, attracting more demand for these loans from households. Households, therefore, decide to shift their portfolio towards foreign currency loans but due to risk aversion still want some local currency denominated loans. As a result, banks need a source of local currency funds and offer better deposit rates for domestic currency deposits, which, in turn leads to a shift towards local currency in the households' deposit portfolio. Hence the main implication from an increase in the proportion of funds in foreign currency is that loan dollarization should increase while deposit dollarization should decrease.

Note that when $\phi = 0.5$, banks have no "preference" between foreign and local currency loans and deposits, thus $R_d = R_d^*$ and $R_l = R_l^*$, which implies $\alpha_d = \alpha_l = \lambda_{MVP} = 0.5$. Our model therefore nests the MVP framework of Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003).

Given that we obtain equilibrium rates for all the markets we can also calculate interest rate differentials (local currency minus foreign currency rates) for loans and deposits as well as margins (loan minus deposit rates) for foreign and local currency.

Figure 2 shows that interest rate differentials increase as ϕ and F increase. Hence there is a positive co-movement between loan differential and loan dollarization and a negative co-movement between deposit differential and dollarization. This is consistent with the bank's fund management rea-



Figure 1: Loans and Deposits Foreign Currency Shares as ϕ increases



Figure 2: Interest Rate Differentials

soning. As banks make foreign currency loans and local currency deposits more attractive both differentials increase (local currency loan and deposits rates increase while foreign currency rates decrease). This induces households to take more foreign currency loans and make less foreign currency deposits. Note that the relationship between interest rate differentials and dollarizations is easily verified by looking at the fund manager's first order conditions (equations (2) and (4)), since households will only deviate from the λ_{MVP} if the differentials move.

The direction of the movements of loan and deposit dollarization and of interest rate differentials as ϕ and F change are very robust across different parameterizations of the model. Movements in margins, however, depend on the parametrization of the model. More precisely, they depend on the amount of funds compared to deposits¹⁷, and on the degree of monopoly power of banks¹⁸ compared with how much banks care about loan market shares (γ). Given that we have assumed that funds are always within a specific range below 70% of deposits the first condition is not relevant for our analysis.

If banks have low market power (θ) relative to how much they care about market shares (γ) then margin in foreign currency increases while margin in local currency decreases as ϕ increases. The reason for this result is that as γ increases relative to $1/\theta$, the bank will be less willing to specialize in the foreign market. Hence banks will not move loan rates apart as much as they do for deposit rates leading to an increase in the foreign currency margin and a decrease in local currency margin. The opposite happens when banks

¹⁷Implicitly given by F and the intertemporal elasticity of substitution $1/\sigma$.

 $^{^{18}\}text{Elasticity}$ of substitution between different bank deposits and loans in the composite index $\theta.$

market power is high and relevance of loan market share is low. Table 2 summarises the two cases.

 $\begin{array}{c} \hline \text{Table 2: Margins when } \phi \text{ increases for different parameter values} \\ \hline \hline \text{Case 1 - } \gamma \text{ low relative to } \theta \\ \hline \hline R_l \uparrow\uparrow \text{ increases more than } R_d \downarrow & \text{Margin_LC} \uparrow, \alpha_l \uparrow \text{ and } \alpha_d \downarrow \\ \hline R_l^* \downarrow\downarrow \text{ decreases more than } R_d^* \uparrow & \text{Margin_FC} \downarrow, \alpha_l \uparrow \text{ and } \alpha_d \downarrow \\ \hline \text{Case 2 - } \gamma \text{ high relative to } \theta \\ \hline \hline R_l \uparrow \text{ increases less than } R_d \uparrow\uparrow & \text{Margin_LC} \downarrow, \alpha_l \uparrow \text{ and } \alpha_d \downarrow \\ \hline R_l^* \downarrow \text{ decreases less than } R_d^* \downarrow\downarrow & \text{Margin_LC} \uparrow, \alpha_l \uparrow \text{ and } \alpha_d \downarrow \\ \hline \end{array}$

3.1 Model Extensions Results

3.1.1 Endogenous Foreign Funds - Results

The main implications of the model do not change if banks are free to choose the amount of foreign funds. As figure 3 shows when the external interest rate EIB decreases and the amount of funds denominated in local currency (F_{LC}) decreases (bottom left hand corner), banks decide to increase the foreign denominated funding (F_{FC} or Foreign Liabilities) which leads to an increase in loan dollarization and a decrease in deposit dollarization. This follows the same pattern observed in the main model when initial funds were exogenous.



(a) Loans For. Currency(b) Deposits For. Currency (c) Funds in For. Currency Share

Figure 3: Dollarization and Foreign Funds as external rate and local currency funds increase

Interest rate differentials also move in the same fashion (Figure 4) as in the basic model, higher differentials lead to more loan dollarization and less



Figure 4: Interest Rate Differentials - Endogenous Foreign Funds



Figure 5: Interest Rate Margins - Endogenous Foreign Funds

deposit dollarization. Interestingly both margins (Figure 5) now move in the same direction, decreasing as foreign liabilities increase. This is so since banks use foreign funds increasingly to supply the loan market without using deposits, leaving deposit rates roughly unchanged while moving both loan rates down.



3.1.2 Model with Firms - Results

An extra set of parameters values must be chosen in order to solve the model with firms. They are shown in Table 3. The variance of $M(S_{M,M})$ is assumed to be 33% higher than the variances of real exchange rate and inflation, which were assumed to be equal. The correlation of real returns and real exchange rate ($\rho_{M,S}$), and real returns and inflation ($\rho_{M,\pi}$) are set to be equal to 0.4 and zero respectively. We will show how the model solution changes when these are changed. The value of the mean of $M(\bar{M})$ was set such that the probability of default is not greater than 20% across all our simulation and V (initial investment) was set as the mean value of total funds F, which in our simulation vary from 0.01 to 0.06.

Table 3: A	Additio	nal Pa	ramet	er Values
$S_{M,M}$	$ ho_{M,S}$	$\rho_{M,\pi}$	\bar{M}	V
0.04	0.4	0	1.6	0.03

We again analyze how financial dollarization (household loans, household deposits and firm loan (α_v) dollarization) changes when the ratio of foreign denominated funds (ϕ) increases together with an overall increase in total funds F. Figure 6 shows the results. The same pattern as in the basic model arises, loan dollarization for both firm and household increase and deposit dollarization decreases. Interest rate differential (not shown here) also moves in the same fashion as in the basic model. Therefore the main implications of our model are the same both for risk averse and risk neutral agents (allowing for default).



Figure 6: Dollarization of Household and Firm Portfolios

Observe that when $\phi = 0.5$ the firm loan dollarization is 61% given that $\lambda_{COV} = 0.11$ and $\lambda_{MVP} = 0.5$ under the chosen parameter specification.

Figure 7 shows that the firm loan dollarization increases when the correlation between investment real return and real exchange rate $(\rho_{M,S})$ increases¹⁹, as indicated by (15). Note that if both $\rho_{M,S}$ and $\rho_{M,\pi}$ are equal to zero, then λ_{COV} equals to zero and share of foreign denominated loans equals to $\lambda_{MVP} = 0.5$, reverting back to the solution of the household's portfolio decision.



Figure 7: Firm Loan Dollarization and Correlation between investment return and real exchange rate

For economies with high degree of openness, a real depreciation of the local currency leads to higher real output/investment return, or in other words, greater the degree of openness higher the correlation between real exchange rate and real output changes (high $\rho_{M,S}$). Hence, an additional implication of the model when firms are included is that higher degree of openness leads to higher corporate financial dollarization as firms use their loan portfolio selection as a hedging strategy against default.

4 Data and Methodology

4.1 Data

Our analysis is based on a unique monthly data set compiled mostly from national central banks for the panel of 24 transition economies (Table 29 in the appendix). In line with the variables included in our theoretical model and suggested by the literature we collected data for credit and deposits denominated in foreign and domestic currency, and their respective interest

¹⁹Setting $\rho_{M,\pi} = 0$. The same pattern would be observed if $\rho_{M,\pi}$ changes, holding ρ_{MS} fixed.

rates. For the majority of the countries in our sample we can distinguish between individuals and firms, long term and short term FD. For some of the countries we also obtained data for euro denominated credit and deposits.

The time series available are of varying length resulting in an unbalanced panel. For some of the countries (Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia and Montenegro) no interest rate data is available or it is available only for loans but not for deposits (Russia). After examining our data set we decided to use data from January 2000 onwards to avoid the problem of dealing with the effects of the Russian crisis.

We construct a measure of the share of foreign loans taking a ratio of foreign currency denominated and total domestic credit. We calculate this ratio for overall credit²⁰, individuals and nonfinancial corporations (NFC). The share of foreign currency denominated deposits is constructed in the same fashion. All these measures are constructed using stock variables if available. For countries where stock variables are not available, new business loans and deposits are used (e.g. Albania).

To verify the implications of our theoretical model we calculate interest rate differentials for loans and deposits $(ir_dif_d \text{ and } ir_dif_l)$, defining the differential as foreign currency interest rate minus the domestic currency interest rate. In constructing this measure one year interest rates on the stock values are used if available. If not available longer maturity or new business measures are used. In case aggregate rates are not available, interest rates on loans and deposits by NFCs are used as proxies. For a few countries in the sample it is possible to distinguish between differentials faced by households and NFCs.

In order to incorporate a measure of competitiveness and market structure we calculate interest rate margins in local and foreign currency ($margin_lc$ and $margin_fc$). As in the model margins are defined as the difference between the loan and deposit rates in each currency.

Our model suggests that FD is also determined by λ_{MVP} which is defined as in Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003):

$$\lambda_{MVP} = \frac{S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{\pi,S}}{S_{\pi,\pi} + S_{S,S} + 2S_{\pi,S}}$$

Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007

²⁰This measure refers to households and firms only. In some countries, however, a broader measure was used, as it was not possible to exclude government and financial institutions from domestic credit.

where, $S_{\pi,\pi}$ and $S_{S,S}$ are variances, and $S_{\pi,S}$ is the covariance of inflation and change in real exchange rate.

While the minimum variance portfolio rationale may be true, it relies on obtaining forward looking variances of inflation and change in the real exchange rate. As these are not observed, the most common alternative is to use historical information to calculate variances. This practice, however, introduces mismeasurement of λ_{MVP} , which may lead to wrong inference and even rejection of the theory. Trying to overcome this difficulty we calculate λ_{MVP} estimating variances and covariances of inflation and change in the real exchange rate over varying period lengths and with respect to different currencies.

One could estimate variances over the whole sample period, but this would introduce lookahead bias and make it impossible to account for unobserved heterogeneity in our empirical analysis. Thus, as a compromise, we estimate λ_{MVP} based on all historical information up to the observation point²¹. The change in the real exchange rate (S) is calculated as a percentage change in the real exchange rate over the period of one year. Inflation is computed in the same fashion, calculating the percentage change in the consumer price index over one year.

As it can be seen from Table 7, the proportion of foreign currency loans or deposits denominated in euro is quite significant. In addition, a number of countries in the region have exchange rate regimes referenced to the euro. Hence our focus is on the euro/local currency exchange rate, which is only available since 1999. However, not accounting for pre 1999 exchange rate variability risks losing information that agents may take into account when forming expectations about future exchange rate variability. Therefore, we are faced with the challenge of choosing the relevant exchange rate for the pre 1999 period. For this period we estimate the variance of the change in the real exchange rate using either the US dollar exchange rate (*lambda_mue*) or the Deutsche Mark exchange rate (*lambda_mue*).

Note that for currency board countries the variability of real exchange rate is directly linked to the variability of inflation, thus if a currency board is fully credible, λ_{MVP} is theoretically undefined. In other words, there would be no difference between local currency and foreign currency denominated

²¹Various other possibilities were investigated, estimating λ_{MVP} over various moving window length (1 year, 2 years, etc.). After careful investigation it appeared that moving window methodology "forgets" periods of high variability and results in very volatile estimates of λ_{MVP} .

assets. However, as the observed returns are in fact different these assets are not the same. Hence one must decide how to estimate λ_{MVP} for currency board countries. In what follows we calculate λ_{MVP} as for the other countries relying on the small deviations of exchange rate due to transaction costs and/or bid/ask spread movements.

One of the implications of our model is that increasing ϕ (proportion of foreign currency denominated funds) leads to increasing loan dollarization and decreasing deposit dollarization. To test this hypothesis we construct an empirical counterpart of ϕ taking the ratio of foreign liabilities²² of banks as a share of total funds net of deposits (i.e. foreign liabilities + capital). Implicit is the assumption that all foreign liabilities are denominated in foreign currency, which is the case for transition economies. Since no consistent measure of total bank capital is available we proxy it by assuming that the actual capital adequacy ratio of the banking system in each country is binding. It has to be noted that regulatory capital may differ from accounting capital. The constructed variable is defined as:

$ratio = \frac{for eign \ liabilities}{for eign \ liabilities + \ total \ assets * CAR}$

where CAR is the actual capital adequacy ratio of the banking system as reported by Barth, Caprio, and Levine (2004) and the accompanying data set provided by the World Bank²³.

While presenting our theoretical model we linked access to foreign funds to the level of foreign bank penetration in the domestic banking local system. The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) publishes two indexes of foreign bank penetration, one measuring the percentage of foreign ownership of total assets (sfb_ta) and one measuring the number of foreign owned banks (sfb_nb) . These are provided only yearly, and hence can not be directly used in our empirical analysis. Nonetheless we found a strong positive correlation between the level of foreign liabilities in the banking sector and both measures of foreign bank penetration for almost all the countries in our sample (see table 6).

²²Note that all banks and bank-like institutions resident in a country are covered by the banking sector survey used to measure foreign liabilities. Specifically, "a subsidiary unit of a non-resident principal is regarded resident of the economy in which its operations are carried out" (International Monetary Fund (1984)), thus the mode of entry of foreign banks (subsidiaries versus branches) do not affect the foreign liabilities measure.

²³Accessible at http://www.worldbank.org/research/projects/bank_regulation.htm.

As regards to the correlation between *ratio* and foreign bank penetration we found it positive for some countries and negative for others. On one hand, as foreign banks enter into the local financial system, through privatization or greenfield direct investments, total capital in the banking sector increases leading to an overall improvement of the banking system and a decrease in *ratio*. On the other hand, foreign bank ownership leads to higher levels of foreign liabilities, which in turn increases *ratio*. Therefore, the variable *ratio* captures both effects of foreign bank penetration, higher levels of foreign liabilities and higher capitalization of the banking sector.

As suggested by Barajas and Morales (2003) we also control for different exchange rate regimes by using a central bank intervention index that compares the variabilities of international reserves and the exchange rate. The index is defined as:

$$interv = \frac{\left(\frac{\Delta int_res}{broad_m}\right)^2}{\left(\frac{\Delta er}{er}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Delta int_res}{broad_m}\right)^2}$$

where int_res stands for international reserves, $broad_m$ for broad money and er for local currency/euro exchange rate. The variable used in our empirical analysis is smoothed taking the moving average over 12 months. A country with low (high) variability in exchange rate and high (low) variability in international reserves is said to have a *de facto* pegged (floating) exchange rate regime. Note that according to this measure a country with low variability of exchange rate and low variability of international reserves is of "unknown" exchange rate regime. It may be that the exchange rate is pegged and there is little central bank intervention, or that the exchange rate is freely floating but is barely changing.

In our model firm loan dollarization is shown to be dependent on how open an economy is. Besides that, it is important to control for real dollarization, which can be proxied by the openness of the economy. Hence we also include openness, computed as the ratio of total imports and exports compared to quarterly GDP ($open = \frac{imp + exp}{GDP}$), as an explanatory variable. Finally, we control for different levels of credit market development including a market depth variable (depth), which is calculated as a ratio of domestic credit to GDP. Both variables are smoothed taking the moving average over 12 months.

4.2 Descriptive Statistics

Figure 8 shows the variability and the median of dollarization over the sample period for every country. Shaded bars represent 25-75 percentile of observations, while vertical lines show the range of variation. The median is denoted by a light line in the shaded bar. As can immediately be seen loan and deposit dollarization are not exactly two sides of the same coin. There are countries in our sample that have loan dollarization being higher than deposit dollarization and vice versa. One can notice that there is a large variation in dollarization for Serbia and Montenegro (CS) and Bosnia and Herzegovina (BA). This is explained by the fact that in CS as of June 2006 around 80% of local currency loans had a foreign currency indexation clause that linked repayments of principal and interest to the evolution of the dinar exchange rate.²⁴ It is suspected that something similar is happening in BA. Loan indexation is also prevalent in Croatia, but, we managed to obtain indexation adjusted data for this country. As indexation adjusted data and interest rate data for BA and CS are not available these countries will not be included in our empirical analysis.

Over time FD is evolving quite differently across countries (Figure 9). Loan dollarization is increasing in Bulgaria, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Poland, Slovenia and Slovakia, while deposit dollarization in these countries is falling with the exception of Latvia. It is also apparent that household loan dollarization is lower compared to firm dollarization (Table 4). This seems to be true for all the countries except of Croatia and Latvia. Deposit dollarization, though being higher for households in general, is very much country specific. Long term loan dollarization is prevailing, while there is no clear distinction between short term and long term deposit dollarization (short term being defined as less than one year).

For several countries in our sample we are able to estimate the share of foreign loans and deposits denominated in euro. The share of the euro among foreign currency denominated loans is relatively high. With the exception of Bosnia and Herzegovina euro loan denomination is more frequent than deposit euro denomination (Table 7).

The step change in deposit dollarization that can be observed in FYR Macedonia around January 2002 (Figure 9) can be explained by the euro cash changeover effect. As high levels of euro legacy currency holdings had to be exchanged to euro, some holdings were no longer held in cash "under

²⁴ "Survey of Banks Business Activities and Intentions" National Bank of Serbia
				-	/	-				
Country	ls_tot	ls_ind	ls_nfc		ls_lt	ds_tot				
AL	0.68			0.64	0.77	0.31	0.26	0.54	0.47	0.2
AM			•			0.75	•	•	•	
AZ	0.62			0.59	0.69	0.59	0.89	0.38		
BA	0.39					0.52			0.37	0.79
BG	0.41	0.08	0.54	0.42	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.46	0.5	0.4
BY						0.57	0.51	0.63	0.59	0.56
CS	0.35	0.06	0.41	0.17	0.51	0.63	0.78	0.48	0.63	0.66
CZ	0.14	0.01	0.19	0.13	0.14	0.11	0.07	0.2	0.13	0
\mathbf{EE}	0.8	0.68	0.8	0.6	0.82	0.3	0.19	0.42	0.29	0.41
GE	0.83			0.75	0.91	0.94			0.93	0.96
HU	0.35	0.13	0.39			0.17	0.15	0.21	0.18	0.01
HR^*	0.78	0.82	0.73			0.65	0.79	0.36		
ΚZ	0.57					0.51	0.6	0.44		
LT^{**}	0.64	0.46	0.66	0.46	0.61	0.4	0.24	0.37	0.22	0.23
LV	0.61	0.65	0.59			0.41	0.44	0.37		
MD	0.72	0.02	0.84			0.5				0.5
MK	0.2	0.01	0.24	0.14	0.27	0.48	0.66	0.29		
$_{\rm PL}$	0.16	0.09	0.28	0.05	0.33	0.17	0.16	0.2	0.17	0.18
RO	0.59	0.29	0.62	0.52	0.69	0.44	0.74			
RU	0.31	0.2	0.33	0.23	0.51	0.39	0.32	0.63	0.4	0.41
SI	0.25	0.02	0.34	0.2	0.27	0.33	0.42	0.21	0.35	0.25
SK	0.18	0.01	0.3			0.15	0.13	0.19	0.39	
TJ	0.7					0.57	0.81	0.47		
UA	0.43			0.35	0.53	0.35			0.26	0.44
Total	0.47	0.21	0.47	0.35	0.51	0.44	0.46	0.39	0.4	0.42

Table 4: Loan and deposit dollarization across countries (total, individual/nonfinancial corporate, short term/long term, 2000-2006 _

Source: National Central Banks

* Adjusted for indexation ** Split into short term/long term and individual/nonfinancial corporate is for euro denomination only.

Country	Correlation
AL	0.0778
AZ	-0.4538
BA	0.7088
BG	-0.8201
CS	-0.8333
CZ	0.6954
\mathbf{EE}	-0.5933
GE	0.8124
HU	-0.5577
HR	0.8744
KZ	0.7933
LT	0.7076
LV	0.6675
MD	0.3912
MK	-0.2490
PL	-0.2843
RO	0.4952
RU	0.6850
SI	-0.0202
SK	-0.7123
TJ	-0.4376
UA	0.7836
Overall	0.5770

Table 5: Correlation of loan and deposit dollarization, 2000-2006

Source: National Central Banks

Country	sfb_ta	sfb_nb	sfb_ta	sfb_nb
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
AL	0.9400	0.7512	0.9182	0.6865
AM	-0.2201	-0.1636	0.7988	0.9236
AZ	-0.4040	-0.0296	0.5166	0.7735
BA	-0.9375	-0.9584	-0.6011	-0.6448
BG	0.7039	-0.2653	0.5422	0.3908
BY	0.8743	0.8743	0.9117	0.8870
CS	-0.5649	-0.6833	0.0592	0.0079
CZ	-0.2718	-0.1547	-0.0432	0.1129
\mathbf{EE}	0.8610	0.8487	0.5376	0.7697
GE	-0.0911	0.0928	0.7208	0.7372
HU	-0.2277	-0.0528	0.3759	0.5745
$_{\rm HR}$	0.1806	-0.0915	0.6630	0.4568
KZ	-0.1002	-0.9120	-0.2825	-0.6681
LT	0.8196	0.7829	0.6004	0.4912
LV	0.2590	0.4268	-0.3731	-0.2467
MD	-0.2634	-0.6053	0.3621	0.6646
MK	-0.1181	-0.2308	0.5741	0.4737
PL	0.8888	0.9114	0.8845	0.9463
RO	0.1753	0.2560	0.5398	0.5166
RU	0.7631	0.4543	0.1403	0.7664
SI	0.7598	0.8308	0.7438	0.8087
SK	0.2735	0.2891	0.4895	0.4743
TJ	-0.2979	0.1361	-0.8437	0.9197
UA	-0.2188	0.4730	0.4682	0.5811
Overall	0.2524	-0.0888	-0.0835	0.0820

Table 6: Correlation of ratio (1-2), foreign liabilities (3-4) and different measures of foreign bank presence

Source: National Central Banks and EBRD

Table 7: Share of foreign loans and deposits denominated in euro, 2000-2006

Country	ls_eur	ds_eur
AL	0.58	0.46
BA	0.48	0.81
BG	0.87	0.59
CZ	0.68	0.64
\mathbf{EE}	0.91	0.4
LT	0.76	0.48
SK	0.74	0.63
Total	0.7	0.58

Source: National Central Banks

Country	ir_dif_l	ir_dif_d	margi_fc	margi_lc
AL	6.30	4.95	5.49	6.83
AM	0.22	2.59	15.11	12.74
AZ	-1.38	0.01	9.29	7.90
BA				
BG	3.08	0.78	8.01	10.32
BY	5.92	16.16		
\mathbf{CS}				
CZ	0.91	-0.16	1.86	2.81
\mathbf{EE}	2.12	0.07	2.24	4.04
GE	2.24	-3.44	12.07	17.76
HU	5.43	4.16	1.79	4.55
HX	4.14	1.10	1.83	7.57
ΚZ	3.23	0.87	9.23	11.59
LT	1.51	-0.31	3.42	5.35
LV	3.88	1.01	2.49	3.86
MD	11.17	12.23	8.43	7.37
MK	4.58	4.01	6.47	7.04
$_{\rm PL}$	5.33	2.37	3.80	6.76
RO	13.96	8.34	4.31	9.93
RU	5.33			10.79
SI	3.07	1.78	2.90	5.17
SK	1.27	0.65	1.41	2.01
TJ	0.56	0.07	18.00	18.50
UA	11.72	3.10	6.89	15.51
Total	4.29	2.78	7.18	8.89

Table 8: Interest rate differentials (on loans and deposits) and interest rate margins(in foreign currency and local currency), 2000-2006

Source: National Central Banks





Figure 8: Financial dollarization in transition economies, 2000-2006

the mattress" but rather were deposited in euro denominated accounts. This is not observed for the other countries in our sample.





Figure 9: Financial dollarization

4.3 Methodology

Based on the existing literature and the implications of our theoretical model we estimate the following model:

 $share_{it} = \beta_1 ratio_{it} + \beta_2 \lambda_{it} + \beta_3 ir_{-} dif_{it} + \gamma margin_{it} + \delta macro_{it} + c_i + e_{it} \quad (20)$

Where share stands for dollarization (loans or deposits), ratio is the proportion of foreign currency denominated funds (as defined above, and which aims to capture foreign bank penetration), ir_dif stands for the interest differentials (loans and deposits) and margin stads for the interest rate margins (local currency and foreign currency). Finally, macro stands for the following macroeconomic controls: openness of the economy, exchange rate regime, and financial depth. After examination (Hausman specification test) fixed effects are included to control for unobserved heterogeneity.

Equation 20 is estimated via FGLS with panel heteroscedasticity and panel specific autocorrelation. Modified Wald test for groupwise heteroscedasticity rejects the null of $\sigma_i^2 = \sigma^2$ and partial autocorrelation function of the error term dies out quickly justifying AR1 structure for the error term.

Endogeneity of interest rate differentials and margins may be suspected. Formal endogeneity tests were not carried out due to the lack of proper instruments. However, to account for possible endogeneity the model is estimated using lagged values of interest rate differentials and margins. In any case, estimation of the model based on the contemporaneous variables yields qualitatively similar results.

Four specifications of equation 20 are considered. First of all they differ in the way λ_{MVP} is calculated. In the first specification we use *lambda_mue*.²⁵ In the second specification *lambda_mde* is used.²⁶ The third and fourth specifications are estimated excluding currency board countries from the sample.

Tables 9 and 10 report regression results with the levels of dollarization as dependent variables, while tables 11 and 12 report regression results with the change in dollarization as a dependent variable. As our variables for FD are calculated using stock measures they can not capture well the changes in the dollarization of the new loans and deposits. Since the measures of new business activity are not available we proxy it by looking at the changes in the stock variables.

 $^{^{25}\}rm Using$ the euro/local currency exchange rate since 1999 and the USD/local currency exchange rate prior to 1999.

 $^{^{26}}$ Using the euro/local currency exchange rate since 1999 and the DEM/local currency exchange rate prior to 1999.

Regression results reported in columns 1 through 6 correspond to the use of *lambda_mue* and columns 7 through 12 correspond to the use of *lambda_mde*. In the odd columns of the tables we report estimation results where the dependent variable is loan dollarization, while in the even columns we report results for deposit dollarization. Estimations are carried out for total (columns 1-2 and 7-8), individual (columns 3-4 and 9-10), and nonfinancial corporate dollarization (columns 5-6 and 11-12).

5 Estimation results

The main estimation results are reported in tables 9 through 12.

Share of funds in foreign currency

As predicted by the model, the share of funds in foreign currency (*ratio*) has a positive impact on loan dollarization and a negative impact on deposit dollarization. This result is very robust across specifications. While *ratio* is found to be very significant in explaining total and NFC loan and deposit dollarization, it fails to explain loan dollarization by individuals.

Although we find that *ratio* has a positive effect on the change in loan dollarization and a negative effect on the change in deposit dollarization by individuals, overall significance of *ratio* explaining the change in dollarization is minimal. This lends support to the explanation that the *level* of dollarization is dependent on the share of foreign funds, while the variability around that level is not. This is in line with the view that increased foreign bank presence in the region, by allowing banks to have greater access to foreign funds, has contributed to loan dollarization. Consistent with our model, access to foreign funds leads to lower deposit dollarization.

Minimum variance portfolio dollarization

Estimation results confirm the theoretical argumentation of Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003), incorporated into our model, that the level of dollarization is increasing with the increase in λ_{MVP} . This results is quite robust no matter what measure of λ_{MVP} is being used. It must be noted, though, that the coefficient appears to be negative for household and firm loan dollarization (but not for total) when the currency board countries are included in the

sample (Table 9 columns 3, 5, and 9). This artifact disappears if the currency board countries are dropped from the sample. As discussed above, theoretically, λ_{MVP} is not defined for currency board countries. It may be argued that λ_{MVP} should be dropped in case currency board countries are included, but then the model is misspecified with respect to non currency board countries. Tables 19 and 20 in the appendix show that the exclusion of λ_{MVP} in the regressions with currency board countries does not alter the qualitative results.

We also find that *lambda_mue* has a positive impact on the change in loan dollarization for all sectors of the economy. This holds both for the whole sample and when the currency board countries are dropped suggesting that minimum variance portfolio argumentation is also relevant in explaining new loan dollarization.

Interest rate differentials

The estimation results suggest that interest rate differentials influence the currency composition of loans and deposits. Interest rate differentials have better explanatory power on changes in dollarization as compared to its level.

Estimation with the *change* in dollarization as a dependent variable yields consistent results for all the specifications. The interest rate differential on loans has a positive effect on loan dollarization, while the interest rate differential on deposits has a negative effect on deposit dollarization. This is in line with the predictions of the model and appears to be the case for households and firms.

Analyzing the impact of interest rate differentials on the *level* of FD, we find that deposit dollarization of the individuals and firms is affected by interest rate differential. It is higher when interest rate differential on deposits is lower (Table 9 and 10). This is also consistent with our model.

The fact that interest rate differentials have almost no impact on the *level* of dollarization may be explained by the way we measure it. The share of foreign currency denominated loans and deposits being used in our estimation is calculated from the stock variables, which naturally responds less to interest rate differentials. Therefore, it is expected that interest rate differentials have stronger explanatory power on new businesses than on stock variables.

Margins

The prediction of our model is that relation of margins to dollarization depends consistently on the parametrization of the model. In case banks care a lot about the loan market share relative to their market power, foreign currency margin and loan dollarization move in the same direction, while local currency margin moves in the opposite direction (as share of funds in foreign currency changes). This would predict a positive sign on $margin_fc$ and a negative sign on $margin_lc$ in explaining loan dollarization. Signs for deposit dollarization should be reversed.

However, empirical results on margins explaining the level of dollarization do not lend consistent support to the model implications. Increasing domestic margins seem to be decreasing loan dollarization, but this result is not robust if currency board countries are excluded from the sample. Margins on foreign currency $(margin_f c)$ appear to have weak predicting power or yield contradicting results.

In the regressions with the change in dollarization as the dependent variable margins appear to have higher explanatory power. Local currency margin decreases loan dollarization (as is predicted by the model in case 2). Deposit dollarization though, increases with $margin_fc$ (opposite of case 2).

One rationalization of this result is that in reality banks care not only about loan market share (as is modeled), but also about deposit share. Thus, as the deposit market share becomes important, increasing domestic (foreign) margins should decrease (increase) dollarization of deposits (as is confirmed by regression results in Table 11 and 12).

This result can also be rationalized by the fact that in these economies bank market power is comparatively high and banks are increasingly doing business in the currency with higher return. If local currency margin increases, dollarization of deposits and loans decreases, while increasing foreign currency margin has the opposite effect.

Macroeconomic conditions

In specifications with the level of FD as the dependent variable openness of the economy is found to be increasing deposit dollarization, while at the same time it is decreasing loan dollarization. If the currency board countries are dropped from the sample openness looses significance in explaining loan dollarization. However, openness has a positive impact for corporate loan and deposit dollarization with and without the currency board countries. This confirms the implication of our model with firms and furthermore indicates that real dollarization contributes to FD.

The central bank intervention index (interv) has mostly no explanatory power. For the few specifications where this variable is significant it seems to have a negative impact on deposit dollarization.

Despite the fact that more interventions would lead to less variability in foreign exchange rate and therefore a shift towards dollarization, λ_{MVP} is already capturing that effect as argued by Ize and Levy-Yeyati (2003). Hence the extra explanatory power of interventions could be coming from the increased confidence in local currency. This can be confirmed by the fact that when λ_{MVP} is excluded from the regression, intervention looses its significance (Table 19 and 20).

The signs of credit market depth (*depth*) coefficient seem to match with the signs of the coefficients of the *ratio* variable (positive for loans and negative for deposits). That leads us to conclude that domestic credit growth in transitional economies is mostly driven by the influx of foreign funds (through the increase in foreign liabilities).



\frown
GLS
results (
estimation res
dollarization
Financial
Table 9:

_

	(1) l share tot	(2) d share tot	(3) l-share ind	(4) d share ind	(5) l share nfc	(6) d share nfc	(7) I share tot	(8) d share tot	(9) I share ind	(10) d share ind	(11) l share nfc	d share nfc
ratio	0.044^{**}	-0.087***	0.015	-0.039**	0.153^{***}	-0.271^{***}	0.047^{***}	-0.066***	0.011	-0.034^{**}	0.158^{***}	-0.267^{***}
	(2.51)	(-5.06)	(1.45)	(-2.50)	(4.61)	(-6.94)	(2.65)	(-4.06)	(1.23)	(-2.19)	(4.85)	(-6.36)
open	-0.025*	0.046***	-0.018***	-0.002	0.047***	0.101***	-0.014	0.057***	-0.018***	0.011	0.052***	0.108***
	(-1.92)	(2.74)	(-6.74)	(-0.13)	(3.07)	(3.43)	(-1.19)	(3.37)	(-7.57)	(0.76)	(3.37)	(3.62)
interv	0.004	0.004	0.000	0.002	-0.006	-0.024	0.003	-0.000	-0.001	-0.000	-0.005	-0.017
-	(0.45)	(0.43)	(0.06)	(0.20)	(-0.50)	(-1.21)	(0.35)	(-0.05)	(-0.23)	(-0.05)	(-0.41)	(-0.79)
lambda_mue	0.068**	0.289***	-0.052**	0.062**	-0.201*	0.356*** (4.99)						
lambda_mde	()			(0000)		(0000)	0.041^{**}	0.084^{***}	-0.050***	0.030^{**}	-0.016	0.067***
	0	+++ ++ ()	9 9 9 0 0 0 0	9 9 9 0 0 0 0	9999 ()		(2.45)	(4.07)	(-3.11)	(2.37)	(-0.63)	(2.69)
depth	0.053	-0.248***	(11.87)	-0.280***	(3.82)	-0.021 (-0.37)	0.021	-0.302***	(12.23)	-0.291***	0.175*** (3.46)	0.030
margin_fc	-0.000	0.000	()	(0000)			-0.000	0.000				(01.0)
marein_lc	(-0.94) -0.000	(0.74)					0.000	(06.0) 000.0-				
0	(-0.58)	(-0.67)					(0.17)	(-0.41)				
margin_fc_ind	~	~	-0.000	0.000			·	~	-0.000	0.000		
margin_lc_ind			(01-0-)	0.000					(ec.0-) **0000-	-0.000		
margin_fc_nfc			(06.1-)	(0.04)	-0.001	-0.000			(92.29)	(11.0-)	-0.001	-0.000
margin_lc_nfc					(0001**	(TC:0-)					(00.1-)	00000
ir_dif_l	0.000				(10.7-)	(67.0)	0.000				(00.2-)	(0.44)
ir_dif_d	(0.52)	-0.000					(1.25)	-0.000				
dif_Lind		(-1.07)	0.000					(-0.53)	0.000			
dif_d_ind			(67.0)	-0.001***					(18.0)	-0.001***		
dif_nfc				(-2.74)	-0.000					(-2.76)	-0.000	
dif_d_nfc					(-0.84)	-0.001					(66.0-)	-0.001
Log L	2751	2899	1877	2107	1539	1446	2740	2885	1878	2105	1535	1439
N	850	921	476	591	456	561	850	921	476	591	456	561

loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda_mule lambda_mde - minimuw variance partelio (calculated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - mde),depth - financial market depth, margin.te margin.te - (loan-deposit) - interest rate margin in foreign (fc) and local currency (lo;) ir.dif.l ir.dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), dif.L.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.l.ind, dif.l.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.l.inc, dif.d.inc, dif.d.inc - interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

ECB Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(1) I share tot	(2) d share tot	(3) I share ind	(4) d share ind	(5) l share nfc	(o) d share nfc	share tot	d share tot	(9) l share ind	(10) d share ind	(11) l share nfc	d share nfc
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	ratio	0.041^{**}	-0.059***	-0.001	-0.022	0.062	-0.275***	0.051^{**}	-0.056***	-0.002	-0.020	0.084^{**}	-0.260***
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(2.07)	(-3.20)	(-0.07)	(-1.08)	(1.43)	(-6.81)	(2.43)	(-2.95)	(-0.26)	(-1.00)	(2.03)	(-6.33)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	open	-0.021	0.055 * * *	-0.001	0.006	0.065^{***}	0.065^{**}	-0.015	0.081^{***}	-0.002	0.015	0.067***	0.102^{***}
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(-1.52)	(2.81)	(-0.59)	(0.27)	(4.85)	(2.02)	(-1.08)	(4.10)	(-1.10)	(0.68)	(5.10)	(3.26)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	interv	0.017	-0.005	0.001	-0.003	0.009	-0.053**	0.016	-0.019^{*}	0.004	-0.001	0.009	-0.094^{***}
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(1.64)	(-0.42)	(0.29)	(-0.25)	(0.56)	(-2.45)	(1.63)	(-1.65)	(0.85)	(-0.00)	(0.55)	(-4.73)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	lambda_mue	0.083***	0.199***	0.006	0.030	0.121	0.375***						
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	lamhda mda	(10.7)	(06.4)	(0.40)	(10.0)	(01.1)	(4.30)	0 111 ***	0 100***	***6900	0.054**	0 168***	0 004**
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$								(4.04)	(4.84)	(3.71)	(2.05)	(3.80)	(2.45)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	depth	-0.011	-0.181^{***}	0.021	-0.511^{***}	-0.133	0.065	-0.059	-0.375***	0.062^{***}	-0.481^{***}	-0.149^{*}	0.189^{**}
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(-0.16)	(-2.70)	(1.35)	(-8.64)	(-1.49)	(0.80)	(-0.93)	(-6.21)	(2.88)	(-8.12)	(-1.89)	(2.33)
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	margin_ic	-0.000	(1.00)					-0.07)	0.000				
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	margin_lc	-0.000	-0.000					0.000	-0.000				
$ \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{ind} \\ \operatorname{ind} \\ \operatorname{infc} \\ $	margin_fc_ind	(1000)	(0000)	0.000	0.000			(=====)	(0000)	0.000	-0.000		
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$				(0.24)	(0.01)					(0.52)	(-0.05)		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	margin_lc_ind			-0.000 (-0.42)	-0.000 (-1.19)					-0.000 (-1.08)	-0.000		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	margin_fc_nfc			~	~	-0.000	0.001			~	~	-0.001	0.001
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	margin_lc_nfc					-0.000	-0.002^{*}					(06.0-)	-0.002*
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ir dif l	0.000				(-0.75)	(-1.65)	0.000				(-0.60)	(-1.85)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		(0.76)						(0.83)					
0.000 0.28) -0.001* (0.28) -0.001* (-1.81) 0.000 (0.18) -0.003** (-1.84)	ir_dif_d		-0.000 (-0.40)						-0.000				
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} -0.001* & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$	dif_l_ind			0.000 (0.28)						0.000 (0.78)			
(0.18) 0.000 (0.18) (0.	dif_d_ind			(01.0)	-0.001*					(01.0)	-0.001*		
(0.1S) -0.003** (-2.38)	dif_l_nfc				(10.1-)	0.000					(10'T-)	-0.000	
	dif_d_nfc					(0.18)	-0.003**					(7.9.1)	-0.003***
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Log L N	1968 625	2206 696	1381 307	1444 422	$971 \\ 281$	1027 388	1959 625	2187 696	1343 307	1455 422	$974 \\ 281$	1019

Table 10: Financial dollarization estimation results (GLS): dropping currency board countries

ECB Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007

ĸ		
7		

	(1) Δl_{sh_tot}	$\Delta d_{-sh-tot}^{(2)}$	$\Delta l_{sh_{ind}}$	$\Delta d_{sh_ind}^{(4)}$	Δl_{sh_nfc}	Δd_{sh_nfc}	Δl_{sh_tot}	Δd_{sh_tot}	Δl_{sh_ind}	Δd_{sh_ind}	Δl_{sh_nfc}	Δd_{sh_nfc}
ratio	0.020**	-0.004	0.002	-0.036***	0.002	-0.008	0.014*	-0.004	0.003	-0.037***	0,001	-0.007
	(2.47)	(-0.48)	(0.51)	(-3.72)	(0.20)	(-0.33)	(1.80)	(-0.53)	(0.65)	(-3.79)	(0.10)	(-0.29)
open	0.001	-0.006*	0.003	0.003	0.004	-0.004	-0.000	-0.006*	0.003	0.003	0.005	-0.002
	(0.29)	(-1.94)	(1.45)	(1.00)	(1.10)	(-0.41)	(-0.18)	(-1.95)	(1.28)	(0.93)	(1.15)	(-0.24)
interv	-0.005*	0.004	0.006^{**}	0.007*	0.001	0.005	-0.004	0.004	0.006^{***}	0.007*	0.002	0.004
anna anna	(-1.69) 0.020**	(1.00)	(2.37)	(1.93) 0.010**	(0.28) 0.051***	(0.40)	(-1.44)	(1.01)	(2.75)	(1.92)	(0.37)	(0.34)
on m-on on	(2.46)	(-0.37)	(2.14)	(2.03)	(3.54)	(-0.19)						
lambda_mde							-0.004	-0.002	0.006	0.006*	0.007	-0.006
denth	-0.016^{**}	0.014	$0,011^{*}$	0.006	-0.022**	0,006	(-0.94)	0.016	0.010	0,007	(1.44)	(-0.70)
	(-2.38)	(1.41)	(1.77)	(0.80)	(-2.21)	(0.27)	(-1.24)	(1.53)	(1.59)	(0.94)	(-1.31)	(0.44)
margin_fc	0.000	0.001**					0.000	0.001**				
margin_lc	(er.0) **000.0-	(e0.2)					(TC'D)	0000-				
margin_fc_ind	(21.2-)	(20.0-)	0.000	0.000			(\$6.1-)	(01.0-)	0.000	-0.000		
margin_lc_ind			(1.55) -0.000	(0.01) -0.000					(1.53) -0.000	(-0.08) -0.000		
			(-0.98)	(-1.49)					(-0.90)	(-1.16)		
margin_fc_nfc					-0.000 (-0.24)	0.001					0.000	0.001
margin_lc_nfc					-0.001	-0.000					-0.000	0.000
ir_dif_l	0.000				(10.1-)	(07-0-)	0.000				(70.1-)	(00.0-)
ir_dif_d	(+0.0)	-0.001^{***}					(0111)	-0.001^{***}				
dif_lind		(0.00)	0.000					(00.0-)	0.000			
dif_d_ind			(=0.1)	-0.001***					(00.7)	-0.001^{***}		
dif_nfc				(00:0-)	0.000**					(00:0-)	0.001**	
dif_d_nfc					(00.11)	-0.002* (-1.76)					(04:4)	-0.001^{*}
Log L	2797	2896	2207	2171	1625	1401	2796	2897	2201	2171	1620	1404
	846	917	475	586	455	556	846	917	475	586	455	556

Table 11: Change in financial dollarization estimation results (GLS)



d countries
boar
currency
ropping
dr
(GLS):
\sim
n results
estimation
dollarization e
financial
e in
Change
12:
Table

ratio 0.012 -0.006 -0 open (1.14) (-0.68) (-0.66) (-0.66) (-0.66) (-0.06)	-0.002	-0.051***	0.022	0.005	0.012	-0.006	-0.001	-0.051***	0.016	-0.000
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1000		(1 12)	(010)	10111	1000	1001	(3 70)	(10.01)	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(-0.37)	(-3.81)	(07.7)	(61.0)	(1.13)	(00.0-)	(17.0-)	(01.0-)	(12.0)	(-0.00)
$ \begin{array}{cccc} (0.03) & (-1.86) \\ -0.009^{*} & 0.005 \\ (-1.84) & (1.01) \\ 0.022^{*} & 0.004 \\ (1.79) & (0.42) \end{array} $	0.005	-0.001	0.011^{*}	-0.012	0.000	-0.006*	0.004	-0.002	0.008	-0.011
$\begin{array}{ccc} -0.009^{*} & 0.005 \\ (-1.84) & (1.01) \\ 0.022^{*} & 0.004 \\ (1.79) & (0.42) \end{array}$	(1.61)	(-0.28)	(1.89)	(-0.96)	(0.01)	(-1.85)	(1.46)	(-0.45)	(1.43)	(-0.88)
$ \begin{array}{ccc} (-1.84) & (1.01) \\ 0.022^* & 0.004 \\ (1.79) & (0.42) \end{array} $	0.010^{***}	0.003	-0.004	0.008	-0.008*	0.005	0.009***	0.001	-0.005	0.008
(1.79) (0.42)	(3.19) 0.024**	0.39)	(-0.55) 0.066***	0.37)	(-1.79)	(0.98)	(3.64)	(0.22)	(-0.64)	(0.40)
~	(2.09)	(0.84)	(2.85)	(0.20)						
		~			0.014^{***}	-0.000	0.014^{***}	0.006	0.016^{**}	-0.006
					(2.73)	(-0.04)	(3.17)	(1.00)	(2.46)	(-0.55)
0.004 (0.24)	0.014	0.022	-0.045	-0.007	-0.010	0.008	0.006 (0.44)	0.021	-0.021	0.016
0.001**	(22.2	(0000)	(2222)	(2002)	0.000	0.001**	()	(222)		(
$\begin{array}{c c} margin.lc \\ margin.lc \\ \hline & -0.001^{**} \\ \hline & -0.000 \\ \hline \end{array}$					$(0.31) - 0.001^{**}$	(2.25) -0.000				
(-2.34) (-1.10)	11000	0000			(-2.35)	(-1.01)	1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0	0000		
margin_fc_ind 0.0 (1	(1.98)	-0.000 (-0.03)					(2.08)	-0.000 (-0.03)		
-0	-0.000	-0.000					-0.000	-0.000		
margin_fc_nfc	(1)		-0.000	0.002^{*}			(+000)	(0011)	-0.000	0.002*
margin_lc_nfc			(-0.14)	(1.78) -0.000					(-0.23)	(1.79) -0.000
ir-dif_1 0.000			(-1.39)	(64.0-)	0.000				()5.1-)	(20.0-)
ir_dif_d (1.17) -0.001***					(1.41)	-0.001***				
dif_lind (-3.86) 0.0	0.000**					(-3.73)	0.000**			
dif-d-ind	(21.2)	-0.001^{***}					(2.19)	-0.001^{***}		
dif.l.nfc		(00.0-)	0.001^{**} (2.52)					(00.0-)	0.001^{***} (3.15)	
dif_d_nfc			~	-0.002** (-2.36)					~	-0.002^{**} (-2.24)
Log L 2013 2214 1 N 621 692 3	1488 307	$1508 \\ 418$	1027 281	999 384	$2016 \\ 621$	$2214 \\ 692$	1493 307	1509 418	1027 281	$1003 \\384$



Sensitivity analysis

Table 13: Ser		v			<u> </u>			
Dep. variable	ratio	open	interv	lambda	depth	margin_fc	margin_lc	ir_dif
l_share_tot looses significance		AZ CZ LT MD		AZ MD UA				
gains significance			EE		AZ EE HR UA			
d_share_tot looses significance gains significance		PL						
Δ l_share_tot								
looses significance	EE GE SI		AL GE HU LT MK RO SI	SI	EE		RO UA	
gains significance			51					$_{\rm GE}$
Δ d_share_tot looses significance		CZ MD SI UA				AM KZ		
gains significance		~ • •	LT		SI SK			

We test the robustness of our results in a number of different ways. First, we used two different measures of λ_{MVP} and, as discussed, results are robust across these two measures. Second, we estimated the model with and without the currency board countries, which produced very similar results with the only exception of λ_{MVP} .

Thirdly, because of better small sample properties we reestimate all of the above specifications of the model via OLS with heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation robust errors. OLS estimation results are presented in the appendix in Tables 15 and 18. The main qualitative results do not change. Note that, when explaining the level of household dollarization, interest rate differentials have the opposite sign compared to the model predictions, although impact on the change in dollarization remains the same.

Fourthly, we reestimate the empirical model for total dollarization of deposits and loans (column 1 and 2 in Tables 9 and 11) dropping one country at the time from the sample. None of the estimated parameters reverse signs, although some loose significance, while others gain. We report in Table 13 countries for which their exclusion leads to these changes.

In all the regressions lagged values for margin and ir_dif are used. The same results are obtained when regressing on the contemporaneous variables (Tables 21 to 28 in the Appendix).

6 Conclusions

This paper develops a model to explain the determinants of financial dollarization. Implications of the model are empirically verified using a newly compiled data set on transition economies. We find that dollarization of deposits is not generally matched by the dollarization of credit in contrast with the model predictions of Ize (2005). For some countries in our sample credit dollarization is higher than deposit dollarization and vice versa.

The richness of our data set, split by households and firms as well as long term and short term, allows us to explore financial dollarization in great detail. We observe that household credit dollarization is lower compared to corporate dollarization, which might be comforting knowing that households usually have less hedging capabilities.

An important distinction between households and firms is that a country's openness to the international economy is contributing to corporate but not to household financial dollarization, supporting the real dollarization paradigm. Note that the explanatory power of our model is generally lower for household vis-a-vis total and corporate dollarization. Hence, this framework does not seem to capture all the main determinants of household dollarization and more research is needed in this area.

We also find that long term credit dollarization is generally higher than short term credit dollarization. While short term credit dollarization carries an increased risk of combining currency and maturity mismatches, the exchange rate risk per se is higher in the case of foreign currency long-term credit. This could be regarded as a potential vulnerability, as shocks to the exchange rate are expected to be more likely over a longer time span.

Our analysis nests the minimum variance portfolio framework. In line with previous studies, the trade off between inflation and real exchange rate variability is found to be a significant factor explaining financial dollarization.

One of the main features of transition economies is the increasing presence of foreign banks and the consequent influx of foreign funds. According to our model, as well as the empirical results, access to foreign funds increases credit dollarization although it decreases dollarization of deposits. This could potentially increase currency mismatches in the agent's portfolios in these countries, leading to higher credit risk (due to exchange risk) and a more fragile financial system. Thus, de-dollarization of credit could possibly be achieved by implementing controls on accumulation of net foreign liabilities in the banking sector. Note that even when credit and deposit dollarization are matched at the aggregate level, there may be currency mismatches in the economy.

If uncovered interest rate parity holds then any interest rate differential that is observed on domestic and foreign currency denominated assets should be explained by an *expected* depreciation or appreciation of the currency. Thus, interest rate differentials should not affect the currency composition of loans and deposits.

In contrast with the literature we allow for uncovered interest rate parity not to hold necessarily, hence the interest rate differential can play a part. Matching the implications of the model, our empirical results show that a higher interest rate differential on loans increases credit dollarization. On the other hand, deposit dollarization decreases when the interest rate differential on deposits increases. Hence interest rate differentials matter.

Appendix A

An alternative specification of our model is when households choose at once the set $(D, L, \alpha_d, \alpha_l)$, where D = total deposits, L = total loans, α_d = portion of deposits in foreign currency (deposit dollarization) and α_l = portion of loans in foreign currency (loan dollarization), instead of splitting the households into investors and fund managers. The other agents face the same problems.

We assume households maximize a Kreps-Porteus/Epstein-Zin utility function allowing us to distinguish intertemporal elasticity of substitution(σ) and degree of risk aversion (η) subject to period 1 and 2 budget constraints.

Formally household $j \in H, L$ solves the following problem

$$\max_{\{C_1, C_2, D, L, \alpha_d, \alpha_l\}} \frac{C_1^{1-1/\sigma}}{1-1/\sigma} + \beta_j \frac{\left[E\left[C_2^{1-\eta}\right]^{\frac{1-1/\sigma}{1-\eta}}\right]}{1-1/\sigma}$$

subject to

$$Y = C_1 + D - L$$

$$Y = C_2 - \bar{R}_d D + \bar{R}_l L$$

$$\bar{R}_d = \left[\frac{R_d}{p_2}(1 - \alpha_d) + e_2 R_d^* \alpha_d\right]$$

$$\bar{R}_l = \left[\frac{R_l}{p_2}(1 - \alpha_l) + e_2 R_l^* \alpha_l\right]$$

$$D = d + d^*, \quad d = (1 - \alpha_d) D \quad \text{and} \quad d^* = \alpha_d D$$

$$L = l + l^*, \quad l = (1 - \alpha_l) L \quad \text{and} \quad l^* = \alpha_l L$$

where \bar{R}_d and \bar{R}_l are the deposit and loan interest rates given by the weighted average of their respective rate indexes (formally defined in the aggregator problem), (d, l) are the local currency denominated deposits and loans, (d^*, l^*) are the foreign currency denominated deposits and loans and p_2 and e_2 are price and real exchange rate at period 2, which are stochastic (period one price and exchange rate are equal to 1). Main variables of interest are α_d (deposit dollarization) and α_l (loan dollarization).

The algorithm to solve this specification of the model with a single household unit is very computationally intensive and therefore its solution for only

	Alternativ	ve Specification	Main Sp	ecification
	$\phi = 0.5$	$\phi = 0.525$	$\phi = 0.5$	$\phi = 0.525$
D	0.1095	0.109475	0.118977	0.118978
α_d	0.5	0.4940	0.5	0.495743
L	0.1595	0.1595	0.168977	0.168978
α_l	0.5	0.504	0.5	0.5045
R_d	1.1670	1.1675	1.17056	1.17077
R_d^*	1.1670	1.6640	1.17056	1.17034
R_l	1.2350	1.2355	1.23880	1.23902
R_l^*	1.2350	1.2343	1.23880	1.23858

Table 14: Model Specification Comparison

 $\phi = 0.5$ and $\phi = 0.525$ are presented. The same parameter values shown in table 1 were used.

In addition we assume that $\eta = 10$, making sure differences in variances and rates lead to portfolio diversification and that there are four possible states: both price and exchange rates are high $(p_h = 1.75, e_h = 1.4285)$ with probability 0.4, both price and exchange rate are low $(p_l = 0.7, e_l = 0.5715)$ with the same probability and the other two when one variable takes its high value and the other its low value, both with a probability of 0.1.

We then calculate the equilibrium of the model using the following grid search problem. Given a list of four rate indexes the household problems are solved obtaining the aggregate demands. We then solve the bank problem using the rate indexes and aggregate demands. The equilibrium rates are obtained when the rates chosen by the banks are equal to the four rate indexes. If no rate is found we increase the granularity of the grids.

Table 14 shows the results for both specifications of the model. Both showed the same patterns, as ϕ increases loan dollarization and interest rate differentials increase while deposit dollarization decreases. Note that L and Dare always lower in the alternative specification due to precautionary motive when variances are considered into the loans and deposits demand decision. Recall that due to the certainty equivalence assumption variances are not considered in that decision in the main specification of the model.

1-snai	-share_tot	d_share_tot	l_share_ind	d_share_ind	l_share_nfc	d_share_nfc	l_share_tot	d_share_tot	l_share_ind	d_share_ind	l_share_nfc	d_snare_ntc
ratio 0.0	0.018	-0.166^{***}	0.153	-0.335***	0.506^{***}	-0.404^{***}	0.040	-0.121^{**}	0.154	-0.328***	0.518^{***}	-0.416^{***}
(0.	(0.29)	(-3.36)	(1.61)	(-2.77)	(5.06)	(-5.91)	(0.66)	(-2.16)	(1.62)	(-2.74)	(5.37)	(-5.71)
open -0.0	.005	0.023	-0.054^{**}	0.072^{***}	0.077^{**}	0.094^{**}	0.006	0.041^{**}	-0.056**	0.080^{***}	0.085^{**}	0.102^{**}
	(-0.22)	(1.30)	(-2.05)	(2.81)	(2.43)	(2.24)	(0.28)	(2.16)	(-2.11)	(3.23)	(2.58)	(2.24)
interv 0.0	0.038	0.006	0.055	-0.047	-0.117^{***}	-0.017	0.061^{**}	0.038	0.055	-0.041	-0.108^{***}	-0.014
	(1.42)	(0.22)	(1.06)	(-1.08)	(-3.03)	(-0.40)	(2.27)	(1.27)	(1.04)	(-0.91)	(-2.71)	(-0.34)
lambda_mue 0.23	0.233	(10.02)	-0.114	0.111	0.291°	0.291**						
lambda_mde	(01-	(00.01)	(10.1-)	(10.0)	(00.1)	(10.7)	0.159^{***}	0.179^{***}	-0.008	0.088**	0.106^{*}	0.072^{*}
							(3.83)	(4.98)	(-0.20)	(2.23)	(1.94)	(1.79)
depth 0.12	0.127^{**}	-0.200***	0.154^{*}	-0.310^{***}	-0.158	0.010	0.050	-0.253***	0.124	-0.363***	-0.172*	0.028
margin_fc -0.0	(2.16) -0.002	(-3.24) 0.003^{**}	(1.74)	(-3.49)	(-1.58)	(0.14)	(0.80) -0.001	(-2.97) 0.006 $***$	(1.42)	(-3.83)	(-1.79)	(0.35)
	(-1.02)	(2.29) 0.001					(-0.57)	(3.87) 0.000				
	0.04)	-0.001					(0.25)	(0.20)				
margin_fc_ind	(* <u>-</u>		-0.002	-0.003					-0.003	-0.003		
margin_lc_ind			(-1.22)	(-1.32) 0.002					(-1.39) -0.007**	(-1.44) 0.002		
and the second			(-2.01)	(0.87)	***0000	0000			(-2.13)	(0.92)	***0000	0000
margin_ic_nic					-0.009	-0.02					-0.009	-0.002 (-1.13)
margin_lc_nfc					-0.007***	-0.003					-0.006**	-0.003
ir_dif_l 0.0	0.001				(10.7-)	(07-1-)	0.001				(+7.2.4)	(06.1-)
	(0.73)	0.001					(1.09)	100.0				
IL-all-a		-0.001 (-1.52)						-0.001 (-0.62)				
dif_l_ind		~	-0.005**					~	-0.005^{**}			
dif_d_ind			(00:4-)	0.006**						0.006**		
dif 1 mfc				(2.15)	0 003*					(2.02)	**7000	
					(1.66)						(2.07)	
dif_d_nfc						-0.001						-0.001
Log L 14	1441	1882	957	1043	892	1038	1444	1813	956	1047	894	1031
	850	921	476	591	456	561	850	921	476	591	456	561

Appendix B

Table 15: Financial dollarization estimation results (OLS with HAC robust errors)



Table 16: Financial dollarization estimation results (OLS with HAC robust errors): dropping currency board countries

	(1) l_share_tot	(2) d_share_tot	(3) l_share_ind	(4) d_share_ind	(5) l_share_nfc	(6) d_share_nfc	(7) l_share_tot	(8) d_share_tot	(9) l_share_ind	(10) d_share_ind	(11) l_share_nfc	(12) d_share_nfc
ratio	-0.006	-0.073	0.467^{***}	-0.173	-0.062	-0.401^{***}	090.0	-0.018	0.492^{***}	-0.133	0.015	-0.414^{***}
	(-0.08)	(-1.39)	(3.26)	(-1.42)	(-0.54)	(-5.37)	(0.87)	(-0.34)	(3.71)	(-1.14)	(0.14)	(-5.75)
open	-0.011	0.036^{*}	0.058	0.087^{**}	0.068^{*}	0.080^{*}	0.010	0.059^{***}	0.075^{**}	0.094^{**}	0.079^{**}	0.081^{*}
	(-0.34)	(1.77)	(1.54)	(2.04)	(1.68)	(1.72)	(0.33)	(2.74)	(2.07)	(2.41)	(2.14)	(1.65)
interv	0.030	-0.082***	0.160^{**}	-0.104	-0.016	-0.129*	0.028	-0.089***	0.159^{**}	-0.122*	-0.026	-0.143^{**}
	(0.94)	(-2.94)	(2.50)	(-1.56)	(-0.40)	(-1.75)	(0.85)	(-3.32)	(2.47)	(-1.95)	(-0.63)	(-2.07)
lambda_mue	0.218**	0.418^{***}	0.326***	0.369*	0.241	0.201						
والمسطور	(01.2)	(10.0)	(2.03)	(60.1)	(T.49)	(1.22)	***uoc c	***070 0	***0010	***0000	****0000	120.0
ampua_mue							(4.23)	(5.33)	(4.10)	(4.14)	(3.29)	0.071
depth	0.017	-0.537***	-0.589**	-1.059***	0.592^{**}	0.214	-0.321*	-0.569***	-0.733***	-1.270***	0.287	0.252
maroin fc	(0.07) -0.003	(-4.31) 0 003**	(-2.46)	(-4.18)	(2.19)	(1.15)	(-1.76) -0.003*	(-3.95) 0 005***	(-3.49)	(-5.41)	(1.17)	(1.60)
	(-1.30)	(2.15)					(-1.76)	(3.19)				
margin_lc	0.001	-0.002**					0.001	-0.001				
margin_fc_ind	(70.0)	(10.7-)	-0.003	-0.002			(en.n)	(1.7.1-)	-0.003	-0.002		
maroin le ind			(-1.23) -0 003	0.001					(-1.16) -0 000	0.001		
nm-or-mgran			(-1.08)	(0.30)					(-0.10)	(0.51)		
margin_fc_nfc			•.		0.009*	-0.001					0.005	-0.001
margin_lc_nfc					0.001	-0.007***					0.002	-0.007***
ir_dif_l	-0.000				(0.04)	(00.7-)	-0.001				(06.0)	(01.2-)
ir_dif_d	(60.0-)	-0.002*					(-0.43)	-0.001				
dif_l_ind		(-1.87)	-0.005**					(-0.85)	-0.005***			
dif_d_ind			(-2.57)	0.005					(-2.77)	0.003		
-				(1.60)						(1.08)		
dif_l_nfc					(0.36)						(0.52)	
dif_d_nfc						-0.004 (-1.43)						-0.004 (-1.28)
Log L N	1019 625	1403 696	675 307	705 422	628 281	727 388	1038 625	1382 696	691 307	719 422	658 281	725 388

Another relation of the second sec

\frown
errors
bust
Q
ith HAC ro
. <u>5</u>
(OLS v
results (
estimation re-
l dollarization estima
ld
e in financial
Ľ.
ang(
Table 17: Ch

	(1) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(2) Δd_{sh_tot}	$^{(3)}$ Δ l_sh_ind	(4) $\Delta d_{sh_{ind}}$	(5) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(6) Δd_{sh_nfc}	(7) Δl_{sh_tot}	$\Delta d_{sh_{tot}}^{(8)}$	$\Delta l_{sh,ind}^{(y)}$	(10) Δd_{sh_ind}	(11) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(12) Δd_{sh_nfc}
ratio	0.002	-0.014	-0.014	-0.070***	-0.015	-0.006	-0.001	-0.014	-0.015	-0.070***	-0.018	-0.008
	(0.14)	(-1.09)	(-1.15)	(-3.74)	(-1.02)	(-0.24)	(-0.05)	(-1.10)	(-1.20)	(-3.70)	(-1.17)	(-0.32)
open	0.006	-0.012^{**}	0.010^{**}	-0.004	-0.001	-0.022	0.005	-0.012^{**}	0.011^{**}	-0.004	-0.001	-0.025
	(0.41)	(-2.01)	(2.01)	(-0.54)	(-0.31)	(-1.11)	(0.33)	(-2.06)	(2.04)	(-0.54)	(-0.24)	(-1.15)
interv	-0.011**	0.007	0.005	0.004	0.008	0.026	-0.009*	0.008	0.005	0.005	0.008	0.027
-	(-2.06)	(0.94)	(1.04)	(0.46)	(1.43)	(1.11)	(-1.71)	(0.96)	(86.0)	(0.52)	(1.45)	(1.09)
lambda_mue	0.013	0.003	0.020	0.025	0.036**	0.080						
la.mbda_mde	(=0.0)	(07.0)	(00.1)	(00.0)	(00.2)	(===)	-0.006	-0.000	-0.002	0.006	0.004	0.008
							(-0.73)	(-0.04)	(-0.38)	(1.08)	(0.66)	(0.62)
depth	-0.002	0.024	0.019	0.018	-0.010	-0.004	0.007	0.025	0.028**	0.020	-0.001	0.013
margin_fc	0.001	0000	(00.1)	(01.1)	(00.0-)	(67.0-)	0.001	0.000	(00.7)	()	(11.0-)	(01.0)
margin_lc	(0.85)	(0.000)					(0.93)	0.000				
margin_fc_ind	(-1.29)	(0.06)	0.001^{**}	-0.001			(-1.14)	(0.13)	0.001***	-0.001		
D			(2.42)	(-0.72)					(2.74)	(-0.74)		
margin_lc_ind			-0.001^{**}	-0.000					-0.001^{*}	-0.000 (-0.24)		
margin_fc_nfc					-0.000	0.001					-0.000	0.001
margin_lc_nfc					-0.001*	0.000					-0.001*	0.000
L-dif_l	0.000				(1011-)	(17.0)	0.000				(00.1-)	(===-0)
ir_dif_d	(10.0)	-0.001***					(00.0)	-0.001^{***}				
dif_l_ind		(00.6-)	0.001***					(00.6-)	0.001***			
dif_d_ind			(3.02)	-0.002^{***}					(3.14)	-0.002**		
dif_l_nfc				(-2.03)	0.001*					(ee.z-)	0.001**	
dif_d_nfc					(427)	-0.002					(2.06)	-0.001
Log L N	1534 846	$2471 \\ 917$	1831 475	1766 586	1554 455	1246 556	1534 846	$2471 \\ 917$	1830 475	1766 586	1552 455	1245 556

Alsh tot, Ad-sh, tot - changes in total loam (1) and deposit (d) delarization, Al_sh_ind, Ad_sh_ind - change in individual (ind) loam and deposit dollarization, Al_sh_nfc, Ad_sh_nfc - change in corporate (nfc) loam and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda_mue lambda_mue - minimum variarce portfolio (calculated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - mie), depth - financial market depth, margin.fc margin.lc - (loam-deposit) intervation in foreign (ic) and local currency (ic), ir.dif.l ir.dif.d - loam and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), dif.l.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.d.ind, either are tage in the firms.

dropping	
errors):	
C robus	
OLS with HAC robust	
0	
n results (
estimation	
financial dollarization estimation result	
financial	ies
Change in f	oard counti
Table 18:	currency b

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
a_mde a_mde -0.018 0.007 0.025 0.077* -0.010 -0.093 (-0.30) (0.20) (0.20) (0.89) (1.65) (-0.23) (-0.96) (-0.20) (-0.01 0.001 0.001 0.001 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.22)	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	a.mde a.mde -0.018 0.007 0.025 0.077* -0.010 -0.093 (-0.23) (-0.23) (-0.033 (-0.096) (0.001 0.000 (0.001 0.000 (-0.001 0.000 (-0.001 0.000 0.000 (-0.001 0.0000 0.0000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000 0	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} -0.001 & -0.001 \\ (-1.28) & (-0.35) & 0.001^{***} & -0.001 \\ (-1.28) & (-0.35) & 0.001^{***} & -0.001 \\ (2.94) & (-0.75) \\ -0.000 & 0.000 \\ (-1.60) & (-0.09) \\ (-1.60) & (-0.09) \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c} -0.001 \\ (-1.28) & (-0.35) \\ (-2.94) & (-0.75) \\ (-2.94) & (-0.75) \\ (-0.00) & (-0.00) \\ (-1.60) & (0.09) & (-0.75) \\ (-0.001 & (-0.00) \\ (-1.60) & (0.09) \\ (-0.011 * 0.000 \\ (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ (0.00) \\ (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ (0.12) \\ (0.00) \\ (0.45) $	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c cccc} cind \\ \hline cind \\ cind \\ cind \\ cufc \\ cold \\ c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	-2:34) -00000- -1.601	$\begin{array}{ccccc} -2.04 & (-1.7) \\ -0.00 & -0.00 \\ (-1.60) & (0.09) \\ -1.00 & (-1.00) \\ & -0.000 \\ & & -0.000 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
(69.0-) (9.0-) (2000,0-)	(-0.0) *1000-		$\begin{array}{c} (0.35) & -0.001^{***} \\ (-2.95) & (-2.95) \\ (-3.32) & (-0.02^{***} \\ (-2.02) & (-2.02)^{***} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} (0.35) & & \\ -0.001^{***} \\ (-2.95) & & \\ (-2.95) & & \\ (3.32) & & \\ (3.32) & & \\ (-2.64) & & \\ (-2.64) & & \\ (-101)^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
-fc-nfc -fc-nfc -0.000 0.000 0.002 -0.69) (1.59) -0.001* 0.000 (-1.84) (0.12) 0.000	-lc.nfc - 0.001 - 0.000 - 0.001 - 0.000 - 0.00	0.000	$\begin{array}{c} (-2.39) \\ (-2.32) \\ (3.32) \\ (-0.02^{***}) \\ (-2.64) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} (-2.39) \\ (3.32) \\ (3.32) \\ (-0.02^{***} \\ (-2.64) \\ (1 \ 91) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} (-2.59) \\ (3.32) \\ (3.32) \\ (-2.64) \\ (-2.64) \\ (-2.64) \\ (-2.64) \\ (-2.64) \\ (-2.42) \\ (-2.42) \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{c c} \text{-fc.nfc} & -0.00 & 0.02 \\ \text{-fc.nfc} & -0.00 & 0.02 \\ \text{-0.689} & (1.59) \\ 0.000 & -0.001 \\ 0.000 & (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ 0.000 & (0.35) & -0.001 \\ 0.001 \\ 0.001 \\ 0.001 \\ 0.000 \end{array}$	dc.nfc $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.121 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.125 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.000 $ $ 0.125 $ $ 0.000	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(3.32)	(3.32) $-0.002***$ (-2.64)	$\begin{array}{c} (3.32) \\ -0.002^{***} \\ (-2.64) \\ 0.001^{*} \\ (1.91) \end{array}$
$ \begin{array}{c} \text{ic.nfc} \\ \text{ic.nfc} \\ \text{c.nfc} \\ \text{o.000} \\ 0.000 \\ 0.35 \\ -0.001^{***} \\ (-2.95) \\ 0.001^{***} \\ (-2.95) \\ 0.001^{***} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} -0.000 & 0.002 \\ -0.001 & 0.000 \\ (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ 0.000 \\ (-1.84) & (0.12) \\ (0.45) \\ (0.45) \\ (0.45) \\ 0.000 \\ 0.000 \end{array} \right) $	c_nfc 0.000	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 0.000 & (-1.54) & (0.12) & 0.000 \\ (0.35) & -0.001^{***} & (-2.95) & 0.01^{***} \\ & (-2.95) & 0.001^{***} & (0.45) \end{array}$			*100.0 (10.1)

Note: t-ratios in the parenthesis. *, ** and *** - significant at 10%, 5%, and 1% Lab.tot, Ala.tot - change in total loan (1) and deposit (d) collratation, ALsh.ind, Ad.sh.ind - change in individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, AL.sh.infe, Ad.sh.infe - change in corporate change in total loan (1) and deposit (d) collratation, AL.sh.infe, Ad.sh.infe - change in corporate (infe) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - opennees of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue in corporate (infe) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - opennees of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue (non-deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - opennees of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue (non-deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign (ratio and deposit dollarization). The state ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate rate (infe) loan and deposit interest rate angin in foreign (fc) and local currency (lc), ir.idif.l ir.dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), dif.l.ind, dif

	(1)	(7)	GLS re	GLS regression					OLS HAC correction	correction		
	l_share_tot	d_share_tot	l_share_ind	d_share_ind	l_share_nfc	d_share_nfc	l_share_tot	d_share_tot	l_share_ind	d_share_ind	l_share_nfc	d_share_nfc
ratio	0.037**	-0.107***	0.008	-0.043***	0.148^{***}	-0.274***	-0.012	-0.163***	0.156^{*}	-0.342***	0.472^{***}	-0.432***
	(2.10)	(-5.22) 0.030**	(0.77) 0.01e***	(-2.66)	(4.61)	(-6.40)	(-0.19)	(-2.80)	(1.66) 0.055**	(-2.83) 0.071***	(5.04)	(-5.78) 0.005**
nado	(06 1-)	(0.33)	(20 Z-)	0.002	(06.8)	(0170)	(67 U ⁻)	07070	(00 6-)	(3 06)	(07 0)	
interv	-0.002	0.004	0.000	-0.004	-0.005	-0.018	0.064**	0.037	0.055	-0.048	-0.118***	-0.024
	(-0.22)	(0.35)	(0.00)	(-0.62)	(-0.44)	(-0.86)	(2.21)	(1.28)	(1.07)	(-1.11)	(-3.01)	(-0.57)
depth	0.004	-0.200***	0.293^{***}	-0.266***	0.173^{***}	0.111^{**}	0.200^{***}	-0.089	0.115	-0.274^{***}	-0.048	0.098
margin fc	0.09)	0.000	(11.80)	(-8.30)	(3.41)	(2.21)	(3.23) -0.000	(-1.50) 0 007***	(1.48)	(-4.06)	(-0.54)	(1.71)
0	(0.22)	(1.03)					(-0.19)	(4.34)				
margin_lc	0.000	0.000					0.001	0.001				
margin_fc_ind	(07.0)	(12.0)	-0.000	0.000			(11.1.0)	(06.0)	-0.003	-0.003		
margin_lc_ind			-0.29) -0.001***	(0.80) 0.000					(-1.47) -0.007**	(-1.30) 0.003 (1.00)		
margin_fc_nfc			(06.7-)	(07.0)	-0.001	-0.000			(-2.14)	(20.1)	-0.007*	-0.002
margin_lc_nfc					-0.001**	0000					-0.006**	-0.003
ir_dif_l	0.001**				(=0:=-)	()	0.001				(01.7)	
ir_dif_d	(21.13)	0.000					(1.14)	-0.000				
dif_l_ind		(07.0)	0.000					(-0.08)	-0.005**			
dif_d_ind			(17.1)	-0.001***					(10.2-)	0.007**		
dif_l_nfc				(-2.74)	-0.000					(2.40)	0.004^{*}	
-9 - 6 - 6					(-0.94)	0000					(1.90)	000
dif_d_nfc						-0.000 (-0.38)						-0.000 (-0.04)
Log L	2743	2869	1869	2102	1544	1437	1428	1769	956	1044	885	1030
N	851	922	476	592	456	562	851	922	476	592	456	562

Table 19: Financial dollarization estimation results (GLS/HAC)



	(1)	(2)	(3) GLS re-	(3) (4) GLS regression	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	$^{(9)}$ OLS HAC	(9) (10) OLS HAC correction	(11)	(12)
	Δl_{sh_tot}	Δd_{sh_tot}	∆l_sh_ind	∆d_sh_ind	$\Delta l_{\rm sh_nfc}$	Δd_{sh_nfc}	Δl_{sh_tot}	Δd_sh_tot	∆l_sh_ind	Δd_{sh_ind}	Δl_{sh_nfc}	Δd_{sh_nfc}
ratio	0.017^{**}	-0.003	0.002	-0.037***	-0.001	-0.005	0.001	-0.014	-0.014	-0.071^{***}	-0.019	-0.009
	(2.11)	(-0.41)	(0.53)	(-3.81)	(-0.07)	(-0.24)	(0.06)	(-1.09)	(-1.19)	(-3.77)	(-1.27)	(-0.38)
open	0.001	-0.006*	0.003	0.003	0.004	-0.003	0.005	-0.012^{**}	0.011^{**}	-0.005	-0.001	-0.026
	(0.22)	(-1.93)	(1.33)	(0.83)	(0.93)	(-0.30)	(0.37)	(-2.00)	(2.07)	(-0.64)	(-0.30)	(-1.16)
interv	-0.004	0.004	0.006 **	0.007*	0.001	0.004	-0.009*	0.007	0.005	0.005	0.007	0.026
	(-1.35)	(0.94)	(2.49)	(1.73)	(0.22)	(0.34)	(-1.73)	(0.93)	(1.00)	(0.46)	(1.40)	(1.06)
depth	-0.010*	0.012	0.012^{**}	0.015^{**}	-0.007	-0.000	0.002	0.025^{*}	0.026^{**}	0.026^{**}	0.003	0.020
	(-1.71)	(1.39)	(2.02)	(2.15)	(-0.74)	(-0.01)	(0.10)	(1.66)	(2.29)	(2.00)	(0.37)	(0.79)
margin_fc	0.000	0.001**					0.001	0.000				
margin_lc	-0.000	-0.000					-0.001	0.000				
margin_fc_ind	(70.1-)	(110-)	0.000*	0.000			(01.1-)	(01.0)	0.001***	-0.001		
margin_lc_ind			(1.74) -0.000	(90.0)					(2.69) -0.001*	(-0.74) -0.000		
margin_fc_nfc			(68.0-)	(-0.92)	0.000	0.001			(67.1-)	(91.0-)	-0.000	0.001
margin_lc_nfc					(0.18) -0.000	(1.14) -0.000					$(-0.30) -0.001^{*}$	(0.63) 0.001
					(-1.37)	(-0.59)					(-1.87)	(0.50)
ir_dif_l	0.000 (1.07)						0.000					
ir_dif_d		-0.001***					(0000)	-0.001***				
dif_l_ind		(10.0-)	0.000*					(70.0-)	0.001***			
dif_d_ind			(78.1)	-0.001***					(21.5)	-0.002**		
dif_l_nfc				(18.2-)	0.001**					(06.2-)	0.001^{**}	
dif_d_nfc					(2.20)	-0.002*					(2.06)	-0.001
Log L N	2799 847	2898 918	2201 475	2169 587	1619 455	(-1.93) 1406 557	1536 847	2472 918	1830 475	1769	1552 455	(-1.00) 1247 557

[ن
(GLS/HAC)
\overline{S}
ĥ
हरु
$\underline{\mathbf{S}}$
results
lollarization estimation res
dollarization
ariz
qo
cial
financial
in'
: Change in financial
20:
Table

woue: reacts fit the parentness. ... and ... - support, and 100, 30, and 100 ΔLsh.tc, Δd.sh.tu e parentness. ... and deposit (d) dollarization, Δl.sh.ind, Δd.sh.ind - change in individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, Δl.sh.nfc, Δd.sh.nfc - change in corporate (nfc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mde lambum and deposit dollarization is in foreign (EC and load currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the - fibrancial market depth, margin.fc margin.fc (loan-deposit) interest rate margin in foreign (EC and local currency (lc), in.dif. ir.dif.f. - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency - foreign currency), dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, dif.Lind, differentials for individuals and firms.

ECB Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007 61

_	_	_
0	N	
Ę	- 5	
	-	/
	es	
2	Ī	
	lа	
	e vari	
	5	
	ð	
	rate	
	н П	
1	est	
	E	
	te E	
	us intere	
	ß	
	nc	
	neol	
	සි	
	OLO	
	\cap	4
	temi	
	Ę	
	E	
	00	
	ы	D
	SINC	
	us	
	ī	
Ę	sulta	
	Su	
	ĽĞ	
	С	
	0	
	Ę	
	n	
•	tin	
	ŝ	
	С С	
	lon est	
•	Ę	
	Za	
•	art	
5	Па	
2		
Ċ	0	
	la.	
	1C1	
	ar	
	Inanc	
ŗ	Ξ.	
	• •	
č	7	
	പ	
2	ð	
r	g	
E		

ratio 0.040^{**} -0.076^{***} 0.019^{**} -0.018 open (2.46) (-4.22) (1.82) (-1.34) open (2.246) (-4.22) (1.82) (-1.34) open $(-2.022^{**} - 0.013^{***} - 0.013^{***} - 0.007$ (-0.07) (-0.07) interv $(0.026^{**} - 0.077 - 0.003^{***} - 0.033^{***} - 0.038^{****}$ (-0.72) (-0.72) lambda_mue (0.72) (-0.70) $0.003^{***} - 0.038^{***}$ (-0.43) lambda_mue (0.72) (-0.70) $(-0.03)^{***} - 0.038^{***}$ $(-0.43)^{***}$ depth $0.032^{**} - 0.036^{***}$ $(-0.335^{***} - 0.038^{***} - 0.038^{***}$ $(-0.938^{***} - 0.038^{***} - 0.038^{***}$		d_share_ntc	l_share_tot	d_share_tot	l_share_ind	d_share_ind	l_share_nfc	d_share_ntc
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.147^{***}	-0.288***	0.046^{***}	-0.065***	0.013	-0.015	0.146^{***}	-0.280***
$ \begin{array}{c cccccc} & 0.022 & 0.047^{***} & -0.019^{***} \\ \hline & & -0.022 & 0.047^{***} & -0.019^{***} \\ \hline & & -0.026 & -0.077 & 0.027 \\ 0.006 & -0.077 & 0.035 \\ 0.052 & 0.030^{***} & -0.066^{***} \\ \hline & & 0.052 & 0.30^{****} & -0.066^{***} \\ \hline & & 0.033 & -0.255^{***} & 0.317^{****} \\ \hline & & 0.093 & -0.255^{***} & 0.317^{****} \\ \hline & & 0.000 & 0.000 \\ \hline \end{array} $	(4.71)	(-7.48)	(2.83)	(-3.56)	(1.34)	(-1.13)	(4.82)	(-6.60)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.061^{***}	0.077***	-0.014	0.054^{***}	-0.020***	0.002	0.065 * * *	0.072^{**}
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	(4.86)	(2.80)	(-1.25)	(3.25)	(-7.54)	(0.10)	(5.12)	(2.55)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-0.016	-0.021	0.006	-0.011	0.002	-0.003	-0.013	0.003
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(-1.28)	(-1.02) 0.978***	(0.72)	(-1.08)	(0.37)	(-0.50)	(-1.10)	(0.12)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(-2.31)	(4.03)						
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			0.033*	0.087***	-0.057***	0.024^{*}	-0.015	0.071^{***}
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.232***	0.010	0.069	(4.34)-0.313***	(-3.61) 0.318***	(1.93) -0.245***	(-0.61) 0.214***	(2.97) 0.021
	(4.72)	(0.17)	(1.47)	(-8.05)	(12.49)	(-6.67)	(4.29)	(0.33)
00000		~	0.001	-0.000	~	~	~	~
*			(cf.1) 0.001***	(e./.0-)				
			(91.5)	(7.0.7)	-0.000	0.000		
					(-1.36) -0.000*	(0.82) 0.000 (2.02)		
margin_fc_nfc (1.44)	0.000	-0.002***			(-1.86)	(1.35)	0.000	-0.003***
margin_lc_nfc	(0.09) 0.001	(86.2-) 0.000 0.0					(0.02)	(-2.04) 0.000
ir_dif_l 0.001**	(1.42)	(0.44)	0.001**				(64.1)	(0.49)
ir-dif.d (2.21) 0.000			(2.52)	0.000				
0.000 (1.4.1) 0.000				(60.1)	0.000			
0.000 (0.39) 0.000 (0.39)					(0.41)	0.000		
dif.l.nfc (0.45)	0.001					(0.46)	0.001	
dif.d.nfc	(1.33)	0.000					(1.25)	0.000
Log L 2810 2919 1916 2159 N 863 934 487 603	1580 465	(0.23) 1478 572	2801 863	2909	1911 487	2158 603	1575 465	1476 572



Table 22: Financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables (GLS): dropping currency board countries

	(1) l_share_tot	(2) d_share_tot	(3) l_share_ind	(4) d_share_ind	(5) l_share_nfc	(6) d_share_nfc	(7) 1_share_tot	(8) d_share_tot	(9) l_share_ind	(10) d_share_ind	(11) l_share_nfc	(12) d_share_nfc
ratio	0.035^{*}	-0.051^{**}	0.000	-0.011	0.065	-0.278***	0.045^{**}	-0.056***	-0.003	-0.011	0.080^{**}	
	(1.93)	(-2.48)	(0.07)	(-0.56)	(1.55)	(-7.40)	(2.34)	(-2.71)	(-0.45)	(-0.59)	(2.00)	
open	-0.021*	0.055^{***}	-0.001	-0.004	0.077^{***}	0.049^{*}	-0.016	0.071^{***}	-0.002	0.004	0.081^{***}	
	(-1.71)	(2.84)	(-0.85)	(-0.15)	(4.92)	(1.77)	(-1.39)	(3.65)	(-1.27)	(0.17)	(5.15)	
interv	0.016	-0.020	0.004	-0.009	0.010	-0.061***	0.015	-0.030**	0.006	-0.008	0.00	
lambda_mue	(1.58) 0.053*	(-1.61) 0.226^{***}	(1.10)	(77.0-)	(0.58) 0.048	(-2.77) 0.327***	(1.48)	(-2.45)	(1.34)	(-0.65)	(0.55)	
	(1.84)	(5.12)	(-0.43)	(0.44)	(0.46)	(4.36)						
lambda_mde							0.083***	0.139^{***}	0.055***	0.047*	0.129^{***}	
		+++ +++ 000000	0	+++)007 0		00000	(3.15)	(5.80)	(3.82)	(1.81)	(2.74)	
depth	0.101	-0.229*** (_3 49)	0.019	-0.430*** (_6 85)	-0.094	0.038	0.029	-0.446^{**}	0.057***	-0.415*** (-6.62)	-0.166**	
margin_fc	0.000	-0.001	(00.1)	(00.0-)	(+0.+-)	(01.0)	0.000	-0.000	(==)	(20:0-)	(00.4-)	
margin_lc	0.001***	(-1.28) 0.001^{**}					0.001***	(-0.97) 0.001*				
margin_fc_ind	(QT.C)	(70.7)	-0.000	0.000			(07.0)	(06.1)	0.000	0.000		
margin_lc_ind			(-0.19) -0.000	(0.43) 0.000 (0.70)					(0.45) -0.000 (0.63)	(0.46) 0.000		
margin_fc_nfc			(10.0-)	(0.1.0)	0.001	-0.003**			(00.0-)	(00.0)	0.001	
margin_lc_nfc					(1.20) 0.001^{*}	-2.28) -0.000					0.001*	
ir_dif_l	0.001*				(1.83)	(-0.43)	0.001*				(1.93)	
ir_dif_d	(1.85)	0.001					(1.68)	0.001				
dif_l_ind		(1.57)	-0.000					(1.58)	0.000			
dif_d_ind			(-0.18)	0.000					(0.52)	-0.000		
				(0.11)						(-0.02)		
dif_nfc					0.000						0.000	
dif_d_nfc					(0010)	-0.000 (-0.04)					(0000)	
Log L N	2027 638	2225 709	1449 317	1498 433	1003 290	1056 398	2017 638	$2214 \\ 709$	1406 317	1505 433	1008 290	

Lishare.cot, dishare.tot, dishare.tot - total loan () and deposit (d) dollarization, Lishare.ind - individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, Lishare.nfc, dishare.nfc, dishare.nfc, corporate (nfc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue lambda.mde in minimum variance practical (esticulated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - mde), depth - financial market depth, margin.fc margin.fc (non-deposit) different rate margin in foreign (fb) and local currency (lo; ir.diff.l ir.diff.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), diff.d.ind, diff.e. (interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

Table 23: Financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables (OLS with HAC robust errors)

200	
TODU	
W TUTI	

	(1) l_share_tot	(2) d_share_tot	(3) l_share_ind	(4) d_share_ind	(5) l_share_nfc	(6) d_share_nfc	(7) l_share_tot	(8) d_share_tot	(9) l_share_ind	(10) d_share_ind	(11) l_share_nfc	(12) d_share_nfc
ratio	0.015	-0.166^{***}	0.171^{*}	-0.302^{**}	0.477^{***}	-0.406^{***}	0.038	-0.121^{**}	0.171^{*}	-0.295^{**}	0.493^{***}	-0.415^{***}
	(0.25)	(-3.41)	(1.80)	(-2.57)	(5.03)	(-6.14)	(0.63)	(-2.20)	(1.78)	(-2.53)	(5.39)	(-5.92)
open	-0.011	0.029	-0.053 * *	0.081^{***}	0.080^{**}	0.098**	0.001	0.044^{**}	-0.054^{**}	0.088 * * *	0.087***	0.106^{**}
	(-0.47)	(1.62)	(-2.05)	(3.16)	(2.50)	(2.38)	(0.03)	(2.32)	(-2.09)	(3.55)	(2.66)	(2.38)
interv	0.040	-0.001	0.047	-0.052	-0.117^{***}	-0.014	0.063**	0.031	0.048	-0.046	-0.106^{***}	-0.011
	(1.55)	(-0.03)	(0.94)	(-1.20)	(-3.06)	(-0.35)	(2.43)	(1.06)	(0.92)	(-1.04)	(-2.70)	(-0.26)
lambda_mue	(3.41)	0.385*** (9.56)	201.0-	0.101 (0.76)	(1.73)	(2.41)						
lambda_mde	()	(00.0)		(0.1.0)	(2)		0.160***	0.175^{***}	-0.004	0.080^{**}	0.111^{**}	0.075*
							(3.85)	(4.96)	(-0.11)	(2.13)	(2.09)	(1.95)
depth	(2.22)	-0.207*** (-3.28)	0.136	-0.309*** (-3.56)	-0.126 (-1.28)	0.006	0.053	-0.254^{***}	0.105 (1.13)	-0.357***	-0.156 (-1.63)	0.023
margin_fc	-0.003	0.003**					-0.002	0.006***				
margin_lc	(-1.41) 0.001 (0.46)	(2.44) -0.001 $(_{-1}$ 56)					(-1.04) 0.001 (0.70)	(4.09) 0.000 (0.24)				
margin_fc_ind	(01.0)	(00.1-)	-0.003	-0.001			(01.0)	(1-7-0)	-0.003	-0.002		
margin_lc_ind			(04-1-)	0.002					() 6.1 -)	0.002		
margin_fc_nfc			(61.1-)	(10.0)	-0.008**	-0.002			(76.1-)	(16.0)	-0.008***	-0.002
margin_lc_nfc					-0.006**	-0.004*					(10.006^{**})	-0.004*
ir_dif_l	0.001				(17.7-)	(+6.1-)	0.001				(01.2-)	(n /· T -)
ir_dif_d	(00.0)	-0.001					(1000)	-0.000				
dif_l_ind		(57:0-)	-0.006***					(67.0-)	-0.006***			
dif_d_ind			(-2.65)	0.008***					(-2.78)	0.007***		
dif_l_nfc				(2.71)	0.003					(2.61)	0.004^{**}	
dif_d_nfc					(1.63)	0.001					(2.05)	0.001
Log L N	1463 863	1907 034	224 784	1068 603	903 165	1063	1467 863	1842 03.4	976 187	1071 603	906 465	1056

Lshare_tot, d_share_tot - total loan (1) and deposit (d) dollarization, Lshare_ind, d_share_ind - individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, Lshare_nfc, d_share_nfc - corporate (nfc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - opennees of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda_mude - minimum variance portfolio (calculated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - me), depth - financial market depth, margin_Lc (non-deposit) interest rate margin in foreign (ft) and local currency (los, ir.difL ir.dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), difLind, dif.d.ind, difLanfc, differentials for individuals and firms.

Table 24: Financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables (OLS with HAC robust errors): dropping currency board countries

	(1) l_share_tot	(2) d_share_tot	(3) 1_share_ind	(4) d_share_ind	(5) l_share_nfc	(6) d_share_nfc	(7) l_share_tot	(8) d_share_tot	(9) l_share_ind	(10) d_share_ind	(11) l_share_nfc	(12) d_share_nfc
ratio	-0.018	-0.072	0.464^{***}	-0.144	-0.049	-0.396***	0.046	-0.021	0.498^{***}	-0.114	0.025	-0.409^{***}
	(-0.24)	(-1.40)	(3.27)	(-1.21)	(-0.47)	(-5.59)	(0.66)	(-0.40)	(3.74)	(-1.00)	(0.24)	(-5.94)
open	-0.020	0.043^{**}	0.059	0.097^{**}	0.079^{*}	0.102^{**}	0.001	0.061^{***}	0.078^{**}	0.104^{***}	0.089^{**}	0.101^{**}
	(-0.63)	(2.05)	(1.54)	(2.22)	(1.97)	(2.22)	(0.03)	(2.80)	(2.10)	(2.63)	(2.50)	(2.11)
interv	0.035	-0.087***	0.149^{**}	-0.096	-0.030	-0.109*	0.036	-0.091^{***}	0.151^{**}	-0.108*	-0.033	-0.121^{**}
	(1.14)	(-3.28)	(2.30)	(-1.56)	(-0.70)	(-1.65)	(1.12)	(-3.56)	(2.39)	(-1.83)	(-0.78)	(-1.98)
lambda_mue	0.193^{**}	0.402^{***}	0.311***	0.364^{*}	0.239	0.204						
-	(00.2)	(0.48)	(60.2)	(20.1)	(46.1)	(1.32)	+++010 0	+++000 0	+++00 = 0	+++)10 0	+++100 0	
lambda_mde							0.272***	0.236***	(1.98^{***})	0.258***	0.225^{+++}	0.071
depth	0.076	-0.528***	-0.606**	-1.042***	0.568**	0.162	-0.257	-0.547***	-0.765***	-1.204***	0.271	0.209
margin_fc	(0.34)-0.004	(-4.37) 0.003**	(-2.54)	(-4.20)	(2.19)	(06.0)	(-1.40) -0.004**	(-3.98) 0.005***	(-3.63)	(-5.26)	(1.15)	(1.40)
margin_lc	(-1.58) 0.002	$(2.31) \\ -0.002^{***}$					(-2.06) 0.002	(3.45) -0.001				
fo ind	(1.08)	(-2.75)	0000	0000			(1.13)	(-1.19)	0,003	0000		
margın_rc_ind			-0.003 (-1.25)	-0.000					-0.003	0.00-)		
margin_lc_ind			-0.003	0.001					0.000	0.001		
margin_fc_nfc			(+0.0-)	(01.0)	0.010^{*}	-0.001			(01.0)	(01.0)	0.007*	-0.002
margin_lc_nfc					0.002	-0.008***					0.003*	-0.007***
ir_dif_l	-0.000				(07.1)	(00.0-)	-0.001				(1111)	(01.0-)
ir_dif_d	(1110-)	-0.001				_	(00.0-)	-0.001				
dif_l_ind		(11.1-)	-0.005***			_		(con-)	-0.006***			
dif_d_ind			(26.2-)	0.006**		_			(71.6-)	0.005*		
dif_l_nfc				(2.20)	-0.000					(1.73)	0.000	
dif_d_nfc					(01.0-)	0.000 (0.11)					(10.0)	0.001 (0.19)
Log L N	1041 638	1431 709	690 317	728 433	643 290	750	1061 638	1413 709	708 317	740 433	675 290	748 398

Lshare_tot, d_share_tot - total loan (1) and deposit (d) dollarization, l_share_ind , d_share_ind - individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, l_share_nfc , d_share_nfc - corporate (nfc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - opennees of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda_mde - minimum variance portfolio (calculated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - mde),depth - financial market depth, margin_fc margin_lc - (loan-deposit) interest rate margin in foreign (fc) and local currency (loc), ir_difL1 ir_difL1 ir_difL1 - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), difLind, difL_dind, difL_lnfc, difLanfc - interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

Table 25: Change in financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables (GLS)

	(1) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(2) Δd_{sh_tot}	(3) Δl_{sh_ind}	(4) Δd_{sh_ind}	(5) Δl_{sh_nfc}	Δd_{sh_nfc}	(7) Δl_{sh_tot}	(8) Δd_{sh_tot}	(9) ∆l_sh_ind	(10) Δd_{sh_ind}	(11) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(12) Δd_{sh_nfc}
ratio	0.018^{**}	-0.003	-0.000	-0.030***	0.009	-0.026	0.013	-0.003	0.002	-0.030***	0.010	-0.0
	(2.15)	(-0.37)	(-0.02)	(-3.02)	(0.69)	(-1.17)	(1.60)	(-0.38)	(0.58)	(-3.09)	(0.75)	(-1.0
open	-0.001	-0.007**	0.003	0.004	0.008^{**}	-0.003	-0.002	-0.007**	0.002	0.003	0.008^{**}	-0.00
	(-0.32)	(-2.45)	(1.16)	(1.03)	(2.05)	(-0.37)	(-0.84)	(-2.47)	(0.75)	(0.93)	(2.16)	(-0.2
interv	-0.005	0.005	0.006***	0.007*	-0.000	0.008	-0.005*	0.005	0.006***	0.007*	0.001	0.008
	(-1.51)	(1.21)	(2.63)	(1.73)	(-0.02)	(0.69)	(-1.66)	(1.25)	(3.48)	(1.81)	(0.13)	(0.73
ambda_mue	0.008	-0.002	0.023***	0.016	0.046^{***}	0.008						
lamhda mde	(00.0)	(67.0-)	(71.0)	(00.1)	(+0.0)	(67.0)	-0.007*	-0.002	0.007*	0.005	0.008*	0.000
						_	(-1.72)	(-0.50)	(1.81)	(1.44)	(1.78)	(0.05
depth	-0.015**	0.011	0.009	0.006	-0.022**	-0.003	-0.006	0.013	0.007	0.007	-0.016	-0.004
margin_fc	-2.23)	(1.16)	(96.1)	(0.82)	(-2.13)	(61.0-)	-0.000	(1.23)-0.000	(1.29)	(06.0)	(cc.1-)	(-0.1/
, .	(96.0-)	(-0.32)					(-0.79)	(-0.33)				
margin_lc	-0.000	0.000					0.000	0.000				
margin_fc_ind	((01.1)	0.000	0.000			(01.0)	(0.000	0.000		
margin_lc_ind			-0.000	0.000-					0.000-	(TC-0)		
margin_fc_nfc			(01.0-)	(+0.04)	-0.000	-0.002**			(71.0-)	(04.0-)	0000-	-0.002
margin_lc_nfc					0.000	(17:7-)					0.000	0.000
ir_dif_l	0.000				(ee.0)	(10.0)	0.000				(0.10)	(17.0)
ir dif d	(0.60)	-0.001***					(0.65)	-0.001***				
		(-3.55)						(-3.51)				
bui_L_lib			0.000						0.000			
dif_d_ind			(20.0)	-0.001**					(10.0)	-0.001**		
dif_l_nfc				(-2.22)	0.001^{***}					(-2.33)	0.001***	
dif_d_nfc					(3.10)	-0.001					(3.38)	-0.00
ŀ		0000		00.00		(-1.16)	0000	0000		0070	0,00	(-1.15)
Log L N	2824 855	2929 926	2237 484	2196 596	1646 462	1431 565	2823	2929 926	2234 484	2196 596	1643 462	1433 565

Nets: t-traits in the prenthesis, ** ** and *** - significant at 10% 5%, and 1% Alsh.tot. Adsh.tot - change in total loon (1) and deposit (d) dollarization, Alsh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, and deposit dollarization, Al.sh.ind, Ad.sh.ind, and deposit for the exchange in corporate (infc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in for in corporate (infc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue in corporate (infc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate ragime, lambda.mue in conporate (infc) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate ragime, lambda.mue (ioan-deposit) interest rate margein in foreign (fc) and local currency (ic), ir.dif.l ir.dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), dif.l.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.l.ind, dif.d.infc - interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

ge in financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables	
contempo	
using cor	
n results ı	
ation estimation	
Change in financial dollarization e	ropping currency board countries
Table 26:	(GLS): drol

	(1) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(2) $\Delta d_{-sh-tot}$	(3) Δl_{sh_ind}	(4) Δd -sh_ind	(5) Δl_{-sh_nfc}	Δd_{sh_nfc} (6)	(7) Δl_{sh_tot}	(8) Δd_{sh-tot}	(9) Δl_{sh_ind}	(10) $\Delta d_{sh_{ind}}$	(11) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(12) Δd_{sh_nfc}
ratio	0.011	-0.07	-0.004	-0.047***	0.026	-0.028	0.013	-0.006	-0.002	-0.047***	0.022	:0.0-
	(0.95)	(-0.69)	(-0.57)	(-3.58)	(1.31)	(-1.04)	(1.15)	(-0.59)	(-0.52)	(-3.51)	(1.10)	(-1.0
open	-0.002	-0.008**	0.005	-0.003	0.014^{**}	-0.010	-0.002	-0.008**	0.003	-0.003	0.011*	-0.00
	(-0.66)	(-2.37)	(1.28)	(-0.52)	(2.36)	(-0.86)	(-0.51)	(-2.33)	(0.79)	(-0.66)	(1.94)	(-0.80
interv	-0.009*	0.005	0.009***	0.001	-0.002	0.012	-0.009*	0.005	0.009***	0.000	-0.002	0.014
	(-1.83)	(1.02)	(2.74)	(0.11)	(-0.26)	(0.55)	(-1.82)	(1.01)	(3.71)	(0.03)	(-0.35)	(0.72)
lambda_mue	0.011	0.004	0.033***	0.013	0.065***	0.004						
-	(0.88)	(0.35)	(2.69)	(0.68)	(2.77)	(11.0)	++0100	0000	+++1 TO 0		991 C C	000 0
lambda_mde							0.012	-0.00	(17 91) (17 91)	7.00.0	43 23)	-0.00
depth	0.004	0.007	0.009	0.023	-0.048	0.013	-0.006	0.009	0.002	0.019	-0.026	0.018
	(0.20)	(0.45)	(0.62)	(1.02)	(-1.60)	(0.26)	(-0.31)	(0.55)	(0.15)	(06.0)	(-0.98)	(0.41)
margin_fc	-0.000	-0.000					-0.000	-0.000				
margin_lc	(111.1-)	0.000					(e1.1-)	0.000				
	(-0.38)	(0.61)					(-0.33)	(0.76)				
margin_fc_ind			0.000	0.000					0.000	0.000		
margin_lc_ind			-0.000	0000-					0000-	-0.000		
of of allowing			(#0.0-)	(ne-n-)	0000	*0000			(00.0-)	(77.0-)	0000	
margin_ic_nic					-0.000 (-0.26)	-0.002					-0.000 (-0.38)	-0.002
margin_lc_nfc					-0.000	0.000					0000-	0.000
ir_dif_l	0.000				(77.0-)	(114-10)	0.000				(17.0-)	+c.U)
	(0.32)	9 9 9 1 0 0 0					(0.28)	4 4 4 1 0 0 0				
ir_dif_d		-0.001***						-0.001*** (_3 95)				
dif_l_ind		(07.0-)	0.000					(07.0-)	0.000			
dif_d_ind			(06.0)	-0.001^{***}					(0.74)	-0.001^{***}		
difl_nfc				(-2.93)	0.001^{***}					(-3.03)	0.001^{***}	
					(3.06)						(3.69)	4
dif_d_nfc						-0.002 (-1.54)						-0.002 (-1.51)
Log L	2035	2243	1516	1533	1047	1023	2037	2244	1526	1533	1046	1026
Z	630	701	315	797	286	302	630	701	315	707	986	30.3

Note: t-ratios in the parenthesis. *, ** and *** - significant at 10%, 5%, and 1% Δl-sh-tot, Δd-sh-tot - change in total loan (l) and deposit (d) dollarization, Δl-sh-ind, Δd-sh-ind, - change in individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, Δl-sh-infc, Δd-sh-infc - change in corporate (rice) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - open oses of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda...ue (loan-deposit) interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda...ue (loan-deposit) interv - proxy for the axial market depth, margin.fc margin.lc - (loan-deposit) interest rate margin in foreign (to and loan currency (le), ir-dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials (local currency), dif.l.ind, dif.d.ind, dif.l.infc, dif.d.infc - interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

est rate variables	
ge in financial dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables	
n results using con	
estimation re-	
al dollarization estima	ors)
han	HAC robust errc
Table 27: C	(OLS with

	(1) Δl_{sh_tot}	(2) $\Delta d_{sh_{tot}}$	(3) Δ1_sh_ind	(4) Δd_{sh_ind}	(5) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(6) Δd_{sh_nfc}	(7) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(8) Δd_{sh_tot}	(9) ∆1_sh_ind	(10) Δd_{sh_ind}	(11) Δl_{sh_nfc}	7
ratio	-0.002	-0.018	-0.011	-0.073***	0.001	-0.022	-0.004	-0.017	-0.012	-0.073***	0.000	
	(-0.11)	(-1.32)	(-0.99)	(-3.64)	(0.0)	(-0.93)	(-0.28)	(-1.27)	(-1.00)	(-3.60)	(0.04)	Ū
open	-0.002	-0.016^{**}	0.009*	-0.004	0.007	-0.025	-0.003	-0.016^{**}	0.010^{*}	-0.004	0.007	0-
	(-0.21)	(-2.43)	(1.87)	(-0.61)	(1.46)	(-1.26)	(-0.30)	(-2.45)	(1.92)	(09.0-)	(1.51)	(-1
interv	-0.006	0.008	0.007	0.003	0.005	0.028	-0.005	0.009	0.007	0.004	0.005	0.0
	(-1.05)	(1.04)	(1.38)	(0.31)	(0.91)	(1.20)	(-0.93)	(1.10)	(1.34)	(0.37)	(0.97)	(1.20)
lambda_mue	0.005	0.008	0.025^{**}	0.025	0.025	0.076						
	(0.28)	(0.53)	(2.22)	(0.91)	(1.42)	(1.27)					1	4
lambda_mde							-0.007	0.002	-0.000	0.007	0.005	0.0
depth	-0.002	0.022	0.015	0.016	-0.008	-0.004	(-0.54) 0.006	0.022	(-0.07)	0.017	-0.005	0.008
	(-0.15)	(1.32)	(1.16)	(26.0)	(-0.74)	(-0.17)	(0.40)	(1.24)	(1.78)	(66.0)	(-0.41)	(0.3
margin_fc	-0.001	-0.001					-0.001	-0.001				
margin_lc	0.000	(60.0-) (00000					0.000	0.000				
margin_fc_ind	(04.0)	(85.1)	0.001^{**}	-0.001			(ac.u)	(1.48)	0.001^{**}	-0.001		
)			(2.20)	(-1.17)					(2.53)	(-1.18)		
margin_lc_ind			-0.001**	-0.000					-0.001^{*}	0.000 (0.08)		
margin_fc_nfc				(2000)	-0.000	-0.001				(0000)	-0.000	-0.00
margin_lc_nfc					(12.0-)	(-0.74)					0.000	0.001
					(0.92)	(0.81)					(1.02)	(1.0)
ir_dif_l	0.000						0.000 (0.37)					
ir_dif_d		-0.001^{***}					()	-0.001^{***}				
dif_l_ind		(10.7-)	0.001***					(70.7-)	0.001***			
dif_d_ind			(00.7)	-0.002^{***}					(2.99)	-0.002**		
dif_nfc				(00.7-)	0.001^{***}					(00.7-)	(3.56)	
dif_d_nfc					(00.0)	-0.002					(00.0)	-0.002
Log L	1555	2503	1855	1801	1581	1272	1555	2503	1853	1801	1580	1271
Z	855	926	484	596	160	202	о 1 1 0	0.06	101	EDE	460	191

Note: t-ratios in the parenthesis. *, ** and *** - significant at 10%, 5%, and 1% Δ1-sh.tot, Δd.sh.tot - change in total loan (1) and deposit (d) dollarization, Δ1-sh.ind, Δd.sh.ind - change in individual (ind) loan and deposit dollarization, Δ1-sh.infc, Δd.sh.infc - change in corporate (ric) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue in corporate (ric) loan and deposit dollarization, ratio - share of foreign funds in foreign currency, open - openness of the economy, interv - proxy for the exchange rate regime, lambda.mue lambda.mde - minimum variance portfolio (calculated using USD/EUR exchange rate - mue, and DM/USD exchange rate - mde), depth - financial market depth, margin.fc margin.lc - (loan-deposit) interest rate margin in foreign (10, in-dif.l ir-dif.d - loan and deposit interest rate differentials for individuals and firms.

ECB Working Paper Series No 748 May 2007 68

al dollarization estimation results using contemporaneous interest rate variables	ors): dropping currency board countries
Table 28: Change in financial dollarization ϵ	a HAC robust errors): droppi
Table 28	(OLS wit]

	(1) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(2) Δd_{sh-tot}	(3) $\Delta l_{sh_{ind}}$	(4) $\Delta d_{sh_{ind}}$	(5) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(6) Δd_{sh_nfc}	$ $ (7) $\Delta l_{sh_{tot}}$	(8) Δd_{sh-tot}	(9) ∆l_sh_ind	(10) $\Delta d_{sh_{ind}}$	(11) Δl_{sh_nfc}	(12) Δd_{-sh_nfc}
ratio	-0.015	-0.025	-0.007	-0.094^{***}	0.007	-0.004	-0.012	-0.023	-0.008	-0.092***	0.004	-0.016
	(-0.59)	(-1.42)	(-0.37)	(-3.82)	(0.24)	(-0.14)	(-0.49)	(-1.32)	(-0.40)	(-3.74)	(0.16)	(-0.55)
open	-0.005	-0.019**	0.015^{**}	-0.020**	0.011	-0.043	-0.004	-0.019**	0.015^{**}	-0.019**	0.010	-0.050*
	(-0.34)	(-2.40)	(2.31)	(-2.25)	(1.50)	(-1.63)	(-0.29)	(-2.40)	(2.38)	(-2.02)	(1.31)	(-1.65)
interv	-0.007	0.010	0.014^{**}	-0.010	0.007	0.063	-0.007	0.010	0.013^{**}	-0.010	0.006	0.060
lamhda mue	(-0.74)	(0.80)	(2.04) 0.039**	(-0.59) -0.011	(0.75)	(1.19)	(-0.84)	(0.79)	(2.01)	(-0.59)	(0.70)	(1.12)
	(-0.36)	(0.85)	(2.25)	(-0.26)	(1.46)	(1.33)						
lambda_mde							0.003	0.009	0.016^{***}	0.001	0.014^{*}	0.017
denth	0.036	0.010	0.004	0.083*	-0.016	-0.067	(0.18)	0.69)	(2.90) 0.006	(0.13)	(1.70)	(0.86)
	(0.66)	(0.25)	(0.14)	(1.71)	(-0.38)	(-0.81)	(0.36)	(0.42)	(0.23)	(1.73)	(-0.16)	(-0.06)
margin_fc	-0.001	-0.001					-0.001	-0.001				
margin_lc	(0.000 0.000 (75.0)	(e).0-) 00000 (88 0)					0.000	0.000 0.000 0.000				
margin_fc_ind	(10.0)	(00.0)	0.001**	-0.001			(00.0)	(00.1)	0.001**	-0.001		
margin_lc_ind			-0.001*	().0.1-)					(20.00) -0.000 (1.02)	(- 1.03) 0.000 (0.93)		
margin_fc_nfc			(1, 1, 1, 1, -)	(00.0)	0.000	0.000			(60.1-)	(07.0)	0.000	-0.000
margin_lc_nfc					0.000	0.001					0.000	0.001
ir_dif_l	0.000				(0.40)	(1110)	0.000				(06.0)	(00.1)
ir_dif_d	(0.41)	-0.001***					(67.0)	-0.001***				
dif_l_ind		(-2.63)	0.001***					(-2.59)	0.001^{***}			
dif_d_ind			(2.92)	-0.002***					(3.00)	-0.002***		
dif_l_nfc				(-2.92)	0.001**					(-2.91)	0.001***	
dif_d_nfc					(06.2)	-0.004^{**}					(01.2)	-0.004^{**} (-2.23)
Log L N	1053 630	1847 701	1230 315	1238 427	987 288	879 392	1053 630	1846 701	1231 315	1238 427	986 288	878 392

Alse for the adventure of the summer at 10% over, and the second at 10% over the second of the second at 10% over the second of th

<u>69</u>

Table 29: 150 Country codes	
Country	Code
Albania	AL
Armenia	AM
Azerbaijan	AZ
Bosnia and Herzegovina	BA
Bulgaria	BG
Belarus	BY
Serbia and Montenegro	CS
Czech Republic	CZ
Estonia	EE
Georgia	GE
Hungary	HU
Croatia	HR*
Kazakhstan	KZ
Lithuania	LT
Latvia	LV
Moldova	MD
FYR Makedonia	MK
Poland	PL
Romania	RO
Russia	RU
Slovenia	SI
Slovakia	SK
Tajikistan	TJ
Ukraine	UA
* IIV for inderation adjusted	

Table 29: ISO Country codes

* HX for indexation adjusted



References

- ARCALEAN, C., AND O. CALVO-GONZALEZ (2006): "Foreign Currency Lending in Emerging European Economies," *Mimeo ECB*.
- BARAJAS, A., AND A. MORALES (2003): "Dollarization of Liabilities: Beyond the Usual Suspects," Discussion paper.
- BARTH, J. R., G. J. CAPRIO, AND R. LEVINE (2004): "Bank regulation and supervision: what works best?," *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 13(2), 205–248.
- CATAO, L., AND M. TERRONES (2000): "Determinants of Dollarization -The Banking Side," IMF Working Papers 00/146, International Monetary Fund.
- DE HAAS, R., AND I. NAABORG (2005): "Internal Capital Markets in Multinational Banks: Implications for European Transition Countries," DNB Working Papers 051, Netherlands Central Bank, Research Department.
- FREIXAS, X., B. M. PARIGI, AND J.-C. ROCHET (2000): "Systemic risk, interbank relations, and liquidity provision by the central bank," *Proceedings*.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (1984): A Guide to Money and Banking Statistics in International Financial Statistics.
- IZE, A. (2005): "Financial Dollarization Equilibria: A Framework for Policy Analysis," IMF Working Papers 05/186, International Monetary Fund.
- IZE, A., AND E. LEVY-YEYATI (2003): "Financial dollarization," *Journal* of International Economics, 59(2), 323–347.

(2005): "Financial De-Dollarization: Is It for Real?," IMF Working Papers 05/187, International Monetary Fund.

- JEANNE, O. (2003): "Why do Emerging Economies Borrow in Foreign Currency?," IMF Working Papers 03/177, International Monetary Fund.
- LEVY-YEYATI, E. (2006): "FINANCIAL DOLLARIZATION: Evaluating the consequences," *Economic Policy*.

- LUCA, A., AND I. PETROVA (2003): "Credit Dollarization in Transition Economies: Is It Firms' or Banks' Fault?," *Mimeo Drexel University*.
- NICOLO, G. D., P. HONOHAN, AND A. IZE (2005): "Dollarization of bank deposits: Causes and consequences," *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 29(7), 1697–1727.
- SIMONS, K., AND J. STAVINS (1998): "Has antitrust policy in banking become obsolete?," New England Economic Review, (Mar), 13–26.
- STANDARD AND POOR'S RATINGSDIRECT (2006): "The Foreign Currency Gamble - Rising Risks for Banks in Central and Sotheast Europe," Discussion paper.
- THE BANKER (2006): "NBR Puts Reins On Lending," Discussion paper.
- WINKLER, A., AND R. BECK (2006): "Macroeconomic and financial stability challenges for acceding and candidate countries," Occasional Paper Series 48, European Central Bank.

European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 720 "Real price wage rigidities in a model with matching frictions" by K. Kuester, February 2007.
- 721 "Are survey-based inflation expectations in the euro area informative?" by R. Mestre, February 2007.
- 722 "Shocks and frictions in US business cycles: a Bayesian DSGE approach" by F. Smets and R. Wouters, February 2007.
- 723 "Asset allocation by penalized least squares" by S. Manganelli, February 2007.
- 724 "The transmission of emerging market shocks to global equity markets" by L. Cuadro Sáez, M. Fratzscher and C. Thimann, February 2007.
- 725 "Inflation forecasts, monetary policy and unemployment dynamics: evidence from the US and the euro area" by C. Altavilla and M. Ciccarelli, February 2007.
- 726 "Using intraday data to gauge financial market responses to Fed and ECB monetary policy decisions" by M.Andersson, February 2007.
- 727 "Price setting in the euro area: some stylised facts from individual producer price data" by P.Vermeulen, D. Dias, M. Dossche, E. Gautier, I. Hernando, R. Sabbatini and H. Stahl, February 2007.
- 728 "Price changes in Finland: some evidence from micro CPI data" by S. Kurri, February 2007.
- 729 "Fast micro and slow macro: can aggregation explain the persistence of inflation?" by F. Altissimo, B. Mojon and P. Zaffaroni, February 2007.
- 730 "What drives business cycles and international trade in emerging market economies?" by M. Sánchez, February 2007.
- 731 "International trade, technological shocks and spillovers in the labour market: a GVAR analysis of the US manufacturing sector" by P. Hiebert and I.Vansteenkiste, February 2007.
- 732 "Liquidity shocks and asset price boom/bust cycles" by R.Adalid and C. Detken, February 2007.
- 733 "Mortgage interest rate dispersion in the euro area" by C. Kok Sørensen and J.-D. Lichtenberger, February 2007.
- 734 "Inflation risk premia in the term structure of interest rates" by P. Hördahl and O. Tristani, February 2007.
- 735 "Market based compensation, price informativeness and short-term trading" by R. Calcagno and F. Heider, February 2007.

- 736 "Transaction costs and informational cascades in financial markets: theory and experimental evidence" by M. Cipriani and A. Guarino, February 2007.
- 737 "Structural balances and revenue windfalls: the role of asset prices revisited" by R. Morris and L. Schuknecht, March 2007.
- 738 "Commodity prices, money and inflation" by F. Browne and D. Cronin, March 2007.
- 739 "Exchange rate pass-through in emerging markets" by M. Ca' Zorzi, E. Hahn and M. Sánchez, March 2007.
- 740 "Transition economy convergence in a two-country model: implications for monetary integration" by J. Brůha and J. Podpiera, March 2007.
- 741 "Sectoral money demand models for the euro area based on a common set of determinants" by J. von Landesberger, March 2007.
- 742 "The Eurosystem, the US Federal Reserve and the Bank of Japan: similarities and differences" by D. Gerdesmeier, F. P. Mongelli and B. Roffia, March 2007.
- 743 "Credit market and macroeconomic volatility" by C. Mendicino, March 2007.
- 'International financial linkages of Latin American banks: the effects of political risk and deposit dollarisation' by F. Ramon-Ballester and T.Wezel, March 2007.
- 745 "Market discipline, financial integration and fiscal rules: what drives spreads in the euro area government bond market?" by S. Manganelli and G. Wolswijk, April 2007.
- 746 "U.S. evolving macroeconomic dynamics: a structural investigation" by L. Benati and H. Mumtaz, April 2007.
- 747 "Tax reform and labour-market performance in the euro area: a simulation-based analysis using the New Area-Wide Model" by G. Coenen, P. McAdam and R. Straub, April 2007.
- 'Financial dollarization: the role of banks and interest rates' by H. S. Basso, O. Calvo-Gonzalez and M. Jurgilas, May 2007.

